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Falaj Al-Katmeen is considered as an Al Dawoodi falaj, which keeps the water supply constant around the 
year in Nizwa, Al Dakhiliya governorate in northern Oman. The total length of the falaj, which is among 
the five afalaj that were included in the UNESCO list of World Heritage Sites in 2006, from the mother well 
up to Sharia (the point at which water first appears on the surface of the earth) is about 2,450 meters. It 
is characterized by its three equal water divisions at the Sharia when three equal balls are thrown before 
the dividing point, and each ball is carried away in the three channels indicating the ingenuity of the falaj 
design. The falaj, famous for having a unique water distribution system and continuity of flow throughout 
the year, is also an outstanding example of a coherent and interrelated cultural landscape.
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AFALAJ SUPPORTS RURAL LIFE IN OMAN
The afalaj irrigation system, found in the foothills and 
lowlands bordering the northern mountains of Hajar Al Gharbi 
and Hajar Al Sharqi, has been an important water source 
for an arid country like Oman since ancient days. Although 
historians are unsure of the origin of afalaj in Oman due to the 
lack of documents, it is generally believed that these water 
channels, located in Dakhiliyah, Sharqiyah, and Batinah 
regions, started in 500 AD and it made the arid region of 
the Middle East region habitable, making use of the natural 
forces of gravity. 

It supports the sustainable use of water resources for 
cultivating palms and other farms and has been an integral 
part of the social life of Omani society since ancient times. 
As an original Omani irrigation system, it profoundly 
connects the country’s heritage, culture, and history, aiding 
the establishment of most villages and cities. The irrigation 
channels supply water from underground sources, natural 
springs, or surface water to homes and cropland fairly and 
efficiently, underpinned by mutual dependence and communal 
values. Human settlements, mostly on mountain slopes and 
hillsides, were adapted to meet natural constraints.

These systems, which provide examples of some of the 
old techniques of sustainable water use, were vital to the 
existence of the communities in the surrounding areas 
and required ongoing maintenance from the communities. 
Settlements could only be established in these locations 
because of the availability of water, which is crucial as the 
local conditions are generally considered harsh, with little 
rainfall. 

The irrigation systems, which have watchtowers, mainly 
consist of five afalaj — Falaj Al Khatmeen, Falaj Al Malki, 
Falaj Daris, Falaj Al Mayassar, and Falaj Al Jeela — which 
were included in UNESCO’s list of World Heritage Sites 
in 2006. Four clusters are around the Al Jabal Al Akhdar 
mountain range, while the fifth one is located in the Sharqi 
range, together representing more than 3,000 still functioning 
afalaj, and some of these are considered natural attractions 
for tourists.

Falaj Al Jeela is the best example of a traditional falaj cultural 
landscape that continues to function today, while Falaj Al 
Muyassar supports farms. Similarly, Falaj Daris has the 
largest range of building types and features of all property 
components. And Falaj Al Malki›s landscape contains 
building types not found at any other site on the property. 
Likewise, Falaj Al-Khatmeen is an outstanding example of a 
coherent and interrelated cultural landscape. 

In fact, afalaj of Oman can be classified into three types 
— Al Dawoodi, Al Ghaili, and Al Ainy — depending on the 
type of groundwater they provide. Al Dawoodi falaj is a long 
underground channel that can be tens of meters deep and 

run for several kilometers, keeping the water constantly 
throughout the year. Al Ghaili falaj is usually between three 
and four meters deep and gets water from wells. Similarly, 
Al Ainy falaj gets water from springs and can carry hot, cold, 
fresh drinking water or saline water mixed with valley water. 

Despite the significant economic and technological 
developments over the past several decades supported by 
rich oil income, thousands of aflaj across the country still 
provide 30-50% of all the water used in the country for farming, 
mainly consisting of dates, vegetables, and fruits. Although 
the Sultanate has achieved tremendous development in 
various fields, especially oil and gas, and the manufacturing 
sector, agriculture remains the main livelihood for 800,000 
people who make up the rural population, and afalaj plays an 
important role in providing water. Also, the agriculture and 
fisheries sectors contribute around 2.5% to the total gross 
domestic product (GDP). 

As a result, the Sultanate is currently carrying out several 
works, including beautifying the façade of Falaj Al Mayasser. 
Earlier, a topographical survey was carried out for the five 
major sites. The master plan for the visitor centre and 
interpretation system has also been executed.

In fact, afalaj are fully protected by legislation. For instance, 
in 2017, the law of organising and protecting of afalaj was 
issued by way of a Royal Decree, while similar decrees 
later helped to protect the entire afalaj system, including the 
channels above and below ground from their source areas to 
the distribution of the water in the fields.

The afalaj system, which supports the diverse needs of locals, 
is an excellent example of a traditional cultural landscape that 
continues to function today. On the picturesque landscape of 
Oman, such irrigation channels help solve water shortages 
in interior villages and attract tourists. Likewise, Al Omaniya 
Financial Services SAOG moves on the path of progress and 
prosperity that has been achieved over the past two-and-a-
half decades.  

The non-banking financial company (NBFC), which has an 
excellent internal control system and a cautious approach, 
supports a wide range of sectors and has achieved an excellent 
capital adequacy ratio and comfortable net worth, boasting 
of its leading position in non-performing loan coverage in 
the industry. The company has established a strong market 
presence of more than 100,000 satisfied customers, a 
consistent and sustainable dividend policy, better goodwill, 
value-driven management, dedicated employees, and loyal 
customers, making the perfect synthesis of ingredients for 
sustainable and enduring growth and making the foundation, 
even stronger. 

As we mark our 26th anniversary, we progress on the journey 
ahead, celebrating life in all its ever-amazing expressions.
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We believe 
We believe the purpose of our business is to create superior value for all our Stakeholders with Increased 
profitability that reflects the positive aspects of effective corporate governance and evolve a culture that 
brings out the best in our employees, through empowerment and self-realization. 

What we want to be 
AI Omaniya Financial services’ mission is to be the best financial services company through ethics and 
excellence today and tomorrow.

What we want to do 
It is the sum of our decision about what we will do to achieve our mission in the environment we operate. 
Our strategy is to position the company as a specialized financial services company, which will serve select 
markets and optimize the productivity of our capital base. 

The principal components of our strategy are...

Specialized financial services company 
The provision of financial services to consumers and corporate customers is the principal set of skills, which 
combine our activities. The core competency of our people is to put to test into areas where our skills are 
compatible with the requirements for success. 

Which will serve select markets 
The ability to identify potential markets where a sustainable advantage can be created is another concept 
in our strategy.  When selecting markets, we choose the ones where we believe we have or can establish 
sustainable competitive advantages based upon a dedication to customer service, responsive decision-
making and product innovation. 

Optimize the productivity of our capital base 
Balancing growth between business as that requires us to carry assets and business that produce additional 
revenues and profits without adding to asset size. This produces a large stream of revenue and profits from 
a given capital base than a strategy focused principally on asset growth. 

The environment in which we operate changes constantly. Customer needs and expectations evolve in new 
directions. We review our strategies and remain flexible to prosper and grow in the years to come.

Our guiding philosophy is a system of fundamental beliefs 
and principles of our business. Our statement of the 
corporate philosophy attempts to capture the essence.

PHILOSOPHY

The typical falaj irrigation system in Wadi Tiwi provides water to the surrounding areas. Located in the niyabat of Tiwi in the wilayat of Sur 
(Sharqiyah region), Tiwi is an important tourist destination in the country, especially for foreigners. The pathway along the falaj provides water 
to the plantation, surrounded by lush greenery.
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

Khalid Said Al Wahaibi
Chairman

The Company is resilient and cautiously optimistic of posting 
satisfactory performance in 2022. The company is well aware 
of the current economic scenario and has initiated proactive 
mitigating measures. The company is fundamentally strong 
with solid net worth, clean loan book, lowest non-performing 
loans and high non performing asset coverage. As such the 
Company has the ability to operate competitively and post 
satisfactory performance in the coming years.

Falaj Al-Katmeen in Al Dakhiliya was developed almost 2,000 years ago in the Nizwa district. The water flow of this falaj reaches 200 liters per 
second. It is linked to two archaeological landmarks – Bayt Al Ridaydah and Al Yaarobah Mosque area. Its main source of water is from the Birkat 
Al Mouz area. Tourists usually visit the falaj for recreation and bathing because of its health benefits.
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, it is my pleasure to present our 25th Annual Report, for the year ended 31st December 2022.
 
Economy:
We are ushering in the year 2023 envisaging moderate growth with major rating agencies like S&P, Moody’s and Fitch upgrading 
the sovereign credit ratings corroborating the success of Oman’s financial & economic policies and measures and the IMF 
projecting a decent growth in GDP. The banking system has weathered the recent shocks, supported by substantial liquidity 
buffers and the continued efforts of the CBO in strengthening regulatory and supervisory frameworks. The sultanate sold its 
crude oil at an average price of US$94 per barrels during 2022 against US$50 per barrel as budgeted for 2022. With elevated oil 
prices, increased oil and gas production and higher tax collection, Oman recorded a budget surplus of RO 1.146 bn for the year 
2022. The additional financial revenues enabled the government to pay off part of the public debt resulting in the reduction of 
public debt from RO 20.8bn at the end of 2021 to RO 17.7bn in 2022 thus substantially lowering the Debt to GDP ratio. Oman’s 
2023 budget is based on a prudent average oil price of US$55 per barrel after taking into consideration the uncertainty facing 
global oil markets, global inflation, projected recession and other relevant factors. The Government is committed to support the 
progress of education and the growth of manufacturing, fisheries, mining, logistics, renewable energy and tourism sectors as part 
of Oman Vision 2040. The country is well poised to achieve fiscal sustainability and recreate the financial buffers besides focusing 
on increased development expenditure in the economy towards spurting growth.

Financial Highlights
In the year 2022, the company has achieved net operating income of RO 10.36 million as compared to RO 10.96 million in the 
previous year.  The company achieved a Net Profit after tax of RO 2.750 million compared to RO 2.564 million for the same 
period last year. The company’s net installment finance receivables stood at RO 119 million as of 31 December 2022 as against 
RO 105.56 million last year. The company has made a charge of RO 2.305 million towards estimated credit loss for the year 
2022.  The non-performing assets coverage including the specific reserve for non-performing assets stands at 464%. The 
company continues to maintain its No 1 position for the NPL coverage in the industry.

The company has followed a conservative and pragmatic policy in writing new businesses with focus on maintaining the asset 
quality besides scouting for quality assets, keeping the non-performing loans under control.

Proposed Dividend
It is the intention of your company to continue the sustainable dividend policy that the company has been following since 
inception.  Your directors have proposed a dividend of 12.25% for the year 2022, after considering the CBO guidelines, comprising 
7.25% cash and 5% unsecured compulsorily convertible bonus stock bonds with a face value of RO 0.100 (subject to the approval 
at the AGM), thus maintaining its track record of paying consistent dividends without interruption since inception. This takes 
the cumulative dividend paid to shareholders to 478.58% since inception.  The unsecured compulsorily convertible bonus bonds 
will be paid from Company’s retained earnings.

Capital Enhancement
The company’s equity capital stands at RO 30,321,363/- which is well above the regulatory requirement. The company is well 
capitalised, and the capital adequacy stands at a healthy 33.84%. The company has issued compulsorily convertible bonus stock 
bonds in the earlier years which are listed.  One of the existing convertible bonus stock bonds (listed in 2017) got converted to 
Equity Shares in May 2022. Another lot of the existing convertible bonus stock bonds (listed in 2018) will be converted to Equity 
Shares in 2023 ensuing further Capital enhancement.

Concerns
The world is facing significant economic and geopolitical challenges which adversely affect energy prices and supply chains, 
leading to high inflation rates, high interest rates and growing global debt risks. Oman is not immune from such challenges 
which may affect our economy. Despite the recovery in oil prices and economic activities, the financial and economic challenges 
still persist, Moreover, forecasts of the global economy are unstable, which calls for rationalising spending and committing to 
the approved allocations in the state’s general budget. The FED has embarked on their most aggressive monetary tightening 
cycle in decades in response to soaring inflation and Rial Omani being pegged to USD, the rates are expected to remain high 
at least for a year. Global macroeconomic conditions such as the threat of a worldwide recession, decline in global oil demand, 
high debt servicing costs, intensified geopolitical tensions, supply chain disruptions, high inflation rates and climate change are 
other looming risk factors. The behavior of the debt post the deferment period, expected delinquencies due to reduced cash 
flow at the borrower’s level may continue to reduce the net margins and result in dilution of the NPA coverage.
 
Corporate Social Responsibility
The Company continues to contribute for social causes as part of its Corporate Social Responsibilities in line with the corporate 
objectives during the current year.

Prognosis
We continue to foresee a challenging year ahead tempered with optimism. The company is resilient, proactive and fundamentally 
strong with solid net worth, clean loan book, lowest Non-Performing Loans, high NPA coverage and high liquidity buffers. 
We assure the shareholders that, as outlined in the Report on Corporate Governance and the Management Discussion and 
Analysis Report by the Chief Executive Officer, the company has adequate internal control systems and processes and has good 
governance systems in all the areas of management. The company has the ability and acumen to continue as a going concern 
and the company is cautiously optimistic of posting satisfactory performance in the coming years. The Board also understands 
its responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS and the relevant 
requirements of the Commercial Companies Law 1974 and the Capital Market Authority of the Sultanate of Oman.
 
Board of Directors’ Appraisal:
As per the regulatory requirement, the company has conducted the Board of Directors’ appraisal for the year 2022 to cover the 
remaining tenure of the Board, through an independent consultant M/s. Keynote Services LLC and the report is satisfactory.
 
Acknowledgement
On behalf of the company and the Board of Directors, I would like to express my deep gratitude and appreciation to His Majesty 
Sultan Haitham bin Tarik to continue to lead the Sultanate on the path of development and prosperity.
 
We are also grateful to the Central Bank of Oman, Capital Market Authority and other regulatory authorities for their guidance and 
support.  We also thank our shareholders, bankers, dealers and customers for their continued trust, confidence and support.  Last, 
but not the least, we acknowledge the dedication and commitment of the management and staff of the company.

Khalid Said Al Wahaibi
Chairman
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Khalid Said Salim Al Wahaibi
Chairman of Board

Sheikh Khalid Mustahil Ahmed 
Al Mashani

Deputy Chairman,  Chairman of Executive 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee

K.K. Abdul Razak
Director

Imad Salim Nasser Al Salmi
Director

Ibrahim Said Salim 
Al Wahaibi

Director

Shikar Bipin Dharamsey Nensey
Director

Zaki Hassan Ihsan 
Al Naseeb

Director & Chairman  
of Audit Committee

Sheikh Tariq Salim Mustahil 
Al Mashani

Director

Ketan Dinkarrai Vasa
Director

Located 1,000 meters above sea level, the traditional irrigation system in the mountain village of Misfat is a hub of life where culture, tradition, 
and agriculture meld together in a village gorge. The wadi is located in the Al Dakhliya region. The water of the falaj flows through narrow 
channels, a 30-minute walk from the main village entrance. The water of the spring is considered to have come from within the Hajjar mountain, 
but the location remains unknown.
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REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

COMPANY PHILOSOPHY ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance framework introduced vide CBO circular No. 
BM/932 dated 4 February 2002, CMA regulations vide CMA circular No. E/4/2015 issued in July 
2015 and updated in December 2016 and Decision no 27/2021 effective from 01st March 2021. 
Good corporate governance is about commitment to ethical business standards, culture and 
ensuring that adequate standards exist to promote such behaviour through out the organisation 
by a pro-active governance culture that has consistently adopted industry leading standards.

Al Omaniya Financial Services SAOG Board upholds the highest ethical, moral, and legal standards 
and emphasis quality, transparency, integrity, and honesty in all its dealing with strategic and 
business partners which are critical to our ongoing success and enhancement of all stakeholders’ 
value on a long term.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Al Omaniya Financial Services SAOG Board has an active, well-informed, and independent Board 
consisting of nine non-executive and are all independent directors. The members were elected 
to the Board at the Annual General Meeting held on 21 March 2021, for a term of 3 years ending 
March 2024. The Board members are qualified and experienced professionals and businessmen, 
who provide effective guidance, motivation, and broad-based framework, which enable the 
organisation to perform at high standards.  

The main responsibilities of the Board are to oversee the corporate strategies, review performance, 
ensure regulatory compliance and safeguard the interest of the shareholders.

BRIEF PROFILE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Mr. Khalid Said Al Wahaibi, Chairman has a Degree in Business Administration, International 
Business and majored in Arts & Political Science from Pacific Lutheran University, Tacoma, 
Washington, USA. He has an experience of more than 27 years in several senior management 
positions in a large conglomerate business group. He is also on the board of National Gas Company 
SAOG and Bank Dhofar SAOG.

Sheikh Khalid Mustahil Ahmed Al-Mashani, Deputy Chairman is a Graduate in Economics and 
master’s in international Boundaries. He is also on the board of joint stock companies including the 
Chairman of Bank Muscat SAOG and Dhofar International Development & Investment Co. SAOG. 

Mr. K.K. Abdul Razak, Director has master’s degree in economics and has an experience of more than six decades in 
senior management position. He is Group Chief Financial Officer of Muscat (Overseas) Group.	

Mr. Ibrahim Said Salim Al Wahaibi, Director has a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from the University 
of San Diego, California, USA. He has experience of more than 25 years in various senior positions in a large business 
conglomerate.

Mr. Zaki Hassan Al Naseeb, Director is a graduate of business administration from the United Kingdom. He has 29 
years of experience in finance and Project Management. He also holds directorship in Joint Stock companies including 
Computer Stationary Industry SAOG, Oman Education & Training Investment SAOG and Global Financial Investments 
Holding SAOG. He is also a Board member of Gulf Plastic Industries Co SAOC

Mr. Shikar Bipin Dharamsey Nensey, Director holds Bachelor of Science in Finance & Economics, Babson College 
(School of Business) and MBA from Indian Institute of Management, Calcutta, India. 

Mr. Ketan Dinkarrai Vasa, Director is a Chartered Accountant as well as CFA Charter Holder. He has more than 24 
years of experience in the field of Investments and Finance. Currently, he is working as Senior Analyst at Civil Service 
Employees Pension Fund, in its Monitoring and Reporting Section.

Sheikh Tariq Salim Mustahil Al Mashani, Director is a businessman having family business. He is the member of Al 
Tamman Trading Establishment. He is also the Chairman of Muscat International Bitumen LLC and Dhofar University. 
He is a director of Bank Dhofar SAOG. 

Imad Salim Nasser Al Salmi, Director is an Investment Associate at Ministry of Defence Pension Fund, he is responsible 
for managing a multi-asset class portfolio in the Private Equity and Fixed Income in Oman, GCC and Globally. He holds 
a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Sultan Qaboos University, and he is also a Chartered Alternative Investment 
Analyst “CAIA”. He is also a board member two other unlisted hospitality companies.
 
BRIEF PROFILE OF TOP MANAGEMENT WITH EXECUTIVE POWERS
Mr. Aftab Patel, Chief Executive Officer, is a Commerce Graduate and a Chartered Accountant with decades of 
experience in several areas of banking, financial services, investments and general management. He was associated 
with reputable organization like A. F. Ferguson & Co. and ‘Associated Cement Co.’ in India. In Oman he was involved 
with a major corporate group. He also holds directorship in a joint stock company.

Mr. Salim Al Awadi, Deputy Chief Executive Officer, is a management accountant, holds a degree in Business 
Administration and Post Graduate Diploma in Accountancy and MBA from University of Lincoln, with a rich experience 
of over 33 years in banking, oil and gas. He is also on the board of various companies.

Mrs. Latha Ramakrishan, General Manager – Risk Management is an Economic Graduate and a Cost Accountant 
and has been working with the Company for the last 26 years. She has worked in various capacities including Chief 
Accountant, Finance Manager and also coordinated in the Company’s new IT system.

Mr. Braik Musallam Mohammed Al Amri, General Manager – Products & Services is a post graduate diploma holder 
from University of Kent, UK and MBA from the University of Northampton, UK and has been with the Company since 
November 2007. He has 26 years of experience in senior position. He is also on the board of various companies.
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Details of the Board members, whom they are representing and details of their directorship in other SAOG companies 
excluding Al Omaniya Financial Services are set out in Table I

TABLE I
Attendance 

at 
the last 

AGM

No. of meetings attended Number of 
directorship 

in other 
public

companies
Board

Executive, 
Nomination& 
Remuneration

Committee

Audit 
Committee

Mr. Khalid Said Al Wahaibi, Chairman, 
Independent Member        Yes 5 - 4 2

Sheikh Khalid Mustahil Al Mashani,
Deputy Chairman, Independent Member Yes 5 5 - 3

Mr. Ibrahim Said Al Wahaibi, Director
Independent Member Yes 4 4 - -

Mr. Zaki Hassan Al Naseeb
Independent Member Yes 5 - 4 3

Mr. K. K. Abdul Razak, Director 
Independent Member Yes 5 - 4 -

Sheikh Tariq Salim Mustahil Al Mashani, 
Independent Member Yes 5 5 - 1

Mr. Imad Salim Nasser Al Salmi, Independent 
Member Yes 5 - 4 -

Mr. Shikar Bipin Dharamsey Nensey  
Independent Member Yes 5 5 - -

Mr. Ketan Dinkarrai Vasa
Independent Member. Yes 5 5 - -

BOARD MEETINGS
The meetings are generally scheduled in advance and the notice of each Board meeting is given in writing to each 
director. The Board meets at least 5 times in a year with a maximum gap of 4 months between the meetings. The 
Board Secretary in consultation with the Chairman prepares the detailed agenda for the meeting. The Board papers 
and other explanatory notes are circulated well in advance. The Board has complete access to all information of the 
Company.

During the year under review, the Board met five times. The meetings were held on 27th January, 27th April, 26th July, 
26th October, 17th November 2022. 

The attendance of each director at the last AGM and Board meetings is set out in Table - I.	

BOARD COMMITTEES

EXECUTIVE, NOMINATION & REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Executive, Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of five Directors, who are appointed by the Board. 
It is chaired by an independent director, who is nominated by the Board.  

The purpose of the committee is to review the overall operations of the Company and initiate actions, as required, to 
ensure smooth operation of the business functions, to assist the board in decision making in the matters concerning 
the operations of the Company which are beyond the authority of the Management. The committee also assist the 
general meeting in the nomination of proficient directors, assist the Board in selecting the appropriate and necessary 
executives for the executive management and also fixing the appropriate remuneration and incentives to retain and 
attract the competent human resources for the Company.

The committee shall meet at least twice in a year. The meetings may be called on the request of the Management or 
by the Executive, Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

The minimum quorum is 3 members and the committee functions within defined terms of reference and the minutes 
of the committee meetings are circulated and discussed with the Board.  

The Committee Chairman was Sheikh Khalid Mustahil Ahmed Al Mashani and other members are Mr. Ibrahim Al 
Wahaibi, Sheikh Tariq Salim Al Mashani, Mr. Shikhar Bipin Dharamsey Nensey and Mr. Ketan Dinkarrai Vasa.

The Committee met five times during the year 2022 on 27th January, 27th April, 26th July, 26th October, 17th November 2022.

The number of meetings attended by the members are set out in Table - 1.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee consists of four non-executive directors and the members are independent directors, who are 
appointed by the Board.

The Audit Committee is constituted in accordance with the provisions of the Corporate Governance requirement. 
The Committee Chairman was Mr. Zaki Hassan Al Naseeb and other members are Mr. Khalid Said Al Wahaibi, Mr. K. K. 
Abdul Razak and Mr. Imad Salim Nasser Al Salmi.

All the members of the Audit Committee are qualified and experienced in the fields of finance and accounts. The 
quorum for the Audit Committee is two members. The Committee meets at least 4 times in a year. 
       
The working plan of the committee is approved by the Board. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are as 
per Annexure 3 of the code of Corporate Governance.

The Audit Committee met four times during the year 2022 on 27th January, 27th April, 26th July and 25th October and 
the number of meetings attended by the members are set out in Table -1.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board has regularly reviewed the internal control environment of the Company. 
The scope of internal audit is to obtain sufficient knowledge of specific business, risks and control status within the 
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Company, obtain sufficient data to support the risk assessment of the Company, review of the economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness of operations and of the internal controls and to identify and test the key internal controls.

The Company has an independent internal audit function reporting to the Audit Committee. Mr. Jayanta Kumar Mitra, 
Head of Internal Audit is a qualified chartered accountant with over 21 years of experience.

The Audit Committee has met the internal auditors during the year to review the internal audit reports, 
recommendations, and management comments thereupon. They have also met the external auditors to review audit 
findings and management letter. The Audit Committee has also met the compliance officer, internal and external 
auditors in absence of management as required under the code of Corporate Governance. The Audit Committee has 
further briefed the Board on a quarterly basis at the board meeting about the effectiveness of internal controls in the 
Company.  The Audit Committee and the Board are pleased to inform the shareholders that an adequate and effective 
internal control system is in place and that there are no significant concerns.

Process of Nomination Of Directors
The formation of the Board of Directors is subject to the provision of the Commercial Companies Law and as per CMA 
directives.

REMUNERATION MATTERS
During the year 2022, the Directors were paid sitting fees for the Board meetings, Executive, Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee meetings and Audit Committee meetings, fees paid to each director is as follows:

Director Sitting Fees in RO

Mr. Khalid Said Salim Al Wahaibi 9,200

Sheikh Khalid Mustahil Ahmed Al Mashani 10,000

Mr. Ibrahim Said Salim Al Wahaibi 8,000

Mr. K.K. Abdul Razak 9,200

Sheikh Tariq Salim Mustahil Al Mashani 10,000

Mr. Zaki Hassan Ihsaan Naseeb 9,200

Mr. Shikar Bipin Dharamsey Nensey 10,000

Mr. Ketan Dinkarrai Vasa 10,000

Mr. Imad Salim Nasser Al Salmi 9,200

Total 84,800

The gross remuneration paid to the top 5 officers of the Company including variable components, traveling expenses 
outside Sultanate of Oman and cost of local transport during the year 2022 was RO 1,721,438/-.

The Company has a Board approved performance appraisal mechanism which is being done annually. The year-end 
performance benefits are distributed based on the performance appraisal of the staff members. 

The severance notice period for these officer’s ranges from one to three months with end of service benefits payable 
as per Omani Labour Law.

DETAILS OF NON-COMPLIANCE BY THE COMPANY
The company has complied with all the regulatory requirements during the year 2022.

MEANS OF COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS
Al Omaniya Financial Services SAOG has 409 shareholders; most of the major shareholders are institutional investors. 
The main channel of communication is through the annual report, which is mailed to them well before the AGM. The 
quarterly and annual results of the Company are published in both the Arabic and English newspapers. Quarterly 
results are mailed to the shareholders based on their request. 

The AGM is the principle forum for face-to-face communication with the shareholders and the Company. The Board 
acknowledges its responsibilities towards the shareholders and encourages open dialogue with them, whenever 
approached. The Company has its website www.aofsoman.com. As part of the regulatory requirement the Company 
also publishes the quarterly results and the news items in the MSX website

Management Discussion and Analysis is given as part of annual report, which assures the fair presentation of the 
financial statements.

MARKET DATA
a)	 The monthly high/low price of Company’s share during the year 2022 and performance in comparison to MSX 

financial sector index is given in the graph below:

Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 Apr-22 May-22 Jun-22 Jul-22 Aug-22 Sep-22 Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22

AOFS SHARE AOFS HIGH PRICE FINANCIAL SECTOR FIN INDEX HIGH FINANCIAL SECTOR FIN INDEX LOWAOFS SHARE AOFS LOW PRICE
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PERFORMANCE OF COMPANY COMPARED WITH FINANCIAL SECTOR INDEX 

a)	 The distribution of Shareholding as of 31 December 2022 is as under:

S.No. SHARHOLDER NAME NO. OF SHARES %

1 MUSCAT OVERSEAS 54,912,695 18.11

2 CIVIL SERVICE EMPLOYEES PENSION FUND 41,499,144 13.69

3 HINA BIPIN DHARAMSEY 30,052,952 9.91

4 SH. SALIM MUSTAHIL AL MASHANI 27,360,394 9.02

5 ASSARAIN ENTEPRISE LLC 22,550,496 7.44

6 MINISTRY OF DEFENSE PENSION FUND 15,923,143 5.25

7 HASSAN IHSAN NASEEB 12,771,687 4.21

8 BANK MUSCAT 12,149,292 4.01

9 PUBLIC AUTHORITY FOR SOCIAL INSURANCE 8,102,547 2.67

  10-409 OTHER SHAREHOLDERS 77,891,286 25.69

TOTAL SHARES 303,213,636 100.00

Outstanding Compulsorily Convertible Bonds:
The Outstanding Compulsorily Convertible Bonds, which would impact the equity on its conversion and the terms of 
conversion of such bonds are explained in detail in the Notes to the audited financial statements.

Professional Profile of the statutory auditor
Crowe Oman is one of the leading accounting and advisory firms in Oman. Crowe Oman is a member firm of Crowe Global, 
which has a history of 100+ years. Crowe Global is one of the top 10 accounting networks worldwide, operating with 
more than 200 member firms in 150 countries, with 800 offices and employing more than 40,000 partners and staff. 
Crowe practitioners help multinational organizations reduce uncertainty in measuring and reporting the implications of 
transactions in and across diverse jurisdictions. Crowe provides audit & assurance, tax advisory, risk advisory, business 
advisory, management consultancy and forensic services to numerous SAOG, SAOC and other prestigious privately 
owned companies/groups in the Sultanate of Oman. Their clients can rely on extensive knowledge in specialized areas 
and personal delivery from the professionals they work with. Please see www.crowe.com/om to learn more. Crowe 
Oman is accredited by the Capital Market Authority (CMA) to audit joint stock companies (SAOG’s). 

As per 12th Principle (para 2) of the Code of Corporate Governance and is eligible for reappointment as per MSX & CMA Regulation.

During the year 2022, Crowe Mak Ghazali LLC billed an amount of RO 15,750 towards audit and fee for verification of 
XBRL reports rendered to the Company.

The Company has prepared the financial statements in accordance with the applicable standards and rules and it has 
also complied with the provisions of the Corporate Governance and has reported it as per reporting requirements of 
Capital Market Authority. The Board hereby acknowledges that there are no material things that affect the continuation 
of the Company and its ability to continue its operations during the next financial year.

KHALID SAID AL WAHAIBI	 AFTAB PATEL
Chairman	 Chief Executive Officer

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.crowe.com%2Fom&data=04%7C01%7Ckheiry%40dcfoman.com%7C2ea1bfce1b51465e04dc08d8c285814c%7C0618202588eb446095abc4d061d8693a%7C0%7C0%7C637473226124676786%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C2000&sdata=d1MGvZIUWhqiMNeyKbAzmz%2B2PtdHWURco%2BoEMeL433M%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.crowe.com%2Fom&data=04%7C01%7Ckheiry%40dcfoman.com%7C2ea1bfce1b51465e04dc08d8c285814c%7C0618202588eb446095abc4d061d8693a%7C0%7C0%7C637473226124676786%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C2000&sdata=d1MGvZIUWhqiMNeyKbAzmz%2B2PtdHWURco%2BoEMeL433M%3D&reserved=0
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Samia Al Hassani
Manager - HR

Salim Abdullah Al Awadi
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Braik Musallam Al Amri
GM - Products & Services

Latha Ramakrishnan
GM -  Risk Management

S. Chandrasekar
Chief Manager - Finance

Mohammad Ibrahim Abdulla
Chief Manager - IT

Viju Varghese
Head of Corporate Credit

M.V.V. Ram Kumar
Chief Manager - Retail Credit

MANAGEMENT TEAM

Wadi Bani Khalid has a falaj and a beautiful oasis in the governorate of North Al Sharqiyah. Located about 220 km from Muscat and 120 km from Sur, 
the water in the wadi is crystal clear and refreshing. It is one of the wilayats that boasts various features of nature tourism in several places. A walk 
along the traditional irrigation system gives a refreshing feel to tourists. It is also known for pools, the first destination for visitors to the wilayat.

AFTAB PATEL
Chief Executive Officer
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Aftab Patel
CEO, Al Omaniya Financial Services

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT
Overview
Al Omaniya Financial Services (AOFS) has completed 26 years of successful 
operations as a Non-Banking Financial Institution, offering a comprehensive 
range of financial products.  Over its tenure of more than two and half 
decades, the company has established a strong market presence with robust 
systems and processes and has crossed many significant milestones.

The following discussion and analysis provide information that the management believes, 
is useful in understanding AOFS’s operating results and financial position.  The discussion 
is based on AOFS’s continuing operations and should be read in conjunction with our 
consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this report.

Certain statements in the MD&AR describing the company’s views, objectives, projections, 
estimates, expectations, etc. may be extrapolative within the ambit of applicable laws 
and regulations. Actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied.  
Important factors like changes in government regulations, tax laws, interest rates in 
the domestic and international markets, demand and supply of capital goods, etc. may 
influence the company’s operating results.

A typical falaj of Oman at the Saiq Plateau in the Jebel Akhdhar mountain region, part of the wildly rugged Al Hajar mountain range, in northern Oman. 
The falaj (irrigation canal) supplies water to fruits and vegetable plantations that cover the terraced fields. For over 1,000 years, agriculture has been 
practiced there, thanks to the Mediterranean climate. The mountain village of Al Manakhir, one of the 30 villages on Saiq Plateau, lies directly on the 
edge of the spectacular gorge.  Jebel Akhdhar is one of the most spectacular landscapes containing some 700 wadis as well as Jabel Shams and Jebel 
Kawr, the highest and second highest mountains in Oman with only 300 millimeters of rainfall annually.
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World Economic Outlook
As we usher into the year 2023, the world economy continues to show fragility with global growth slackening in the 
face of elevated inflation, higher interest rates, reduced investment, and disruptions caused by Russia’s invasion of 
Ukraine. The IMF has forecasted 2.9% growth for 2023 as against 3.4% growth last year. The IMF sees the pace of 
global growth falling this year compared with 2022, but by a smaller margin than it predicted in October 2022 The US 
central bank has slowed the pace of its interest rate hikes but opines there will be ongoing increases as it continues 
to battle inflation. The Federal Reserve has recently increased its benchmark overnight interest rate by a quarter of 
a percentage point, taking it to a range of 4.50-4.75%. This follows six larger rises in a row. The FED Chair is of the 
opinion that though inflation has begun to slow, we can expect a couple of more rate hikes, though not very sharp, 
in the months ahead and we do not see the Fed cutting rates this year.  The risks to the outlook remain tilted to the 
downside, even if adverse risks have moderated since October 2022 and some positive factors gained in relevance.

Domestic Economy
The sultanate adopted various fiscal measures over the past couple of years to support the economy including 
interest-free emergency loans, tax and fee reductions / waivers, the flexibility to pay taxes in instalments, a Job 
Security Fund to support citizens who lost their jobs and deferment of loan repayments as the economy was hit by a 
dual shock of the pandemic and a collapse in oil prices.

Oman is on the path to moderate growth since October 2022, primarily driven by higher crude oil and gas prices and 
production coupled with increased tax collection. Oman recorded a budget surplus of RO 1.146 bn for the year 2022. 
The additional financial revenues enabled the government to pay off part of the public debt. Oman’s 2023 budget 
is based on a prudent average oil price of US$55 per barrel while the actual average for 2022 was above $94 per 
barrel. The oil price is expected to be stable in 2023. Also, the Omani government has been taking steps to diversify 
its economy away from its heavy reliance on oil by investing in sectors such as tourism, logistics, and manufacturing 
and these efforts are expected to bear fruit in 2023 and beyond. All these have prompted the major rating agencies 
to upgrade the credit rating of Oman resulting in enhanced confidence of foreign investors, corroborating the 
accomplishment of Oman’s financial & economic policies. However, there are significant works that still needs to be 
done to navigate through the existing challenges to put Oman on a more sustainable path.

The tightening of liquidity in the market leading to an unprecedented increase in the cost of funding could dent the 
economic growth prompting mainly the distressed borrowers opting for borrowing at these rates which would not 
only create immense pressure on the borrowers but may also result in higher delinquencies. 

Opportunities and Threats
While the economy appears to have entered into a subdued recovery mode, policymakers still face daunting challenges 
- in debt management, liquidity management, budget policies, public health, central banking and structural reforms. 
The company has followed a prudent approach in writing new businesses with focus on maintaining the asset quality 
besides scouting for quality assets, keeping the non-performing loans under control. As the oil price continues to be 
stable, we can expect the authorities to pump in the necessary liquidity to ensure that the economy gains traction and 
gets the much-needed impetus for robust growth. 	

The company has focussed and succeeded in rationalising costs and improved collection mechanisms leading to the 
achievement of lowest NPA ratio in the industry.

The company has over the years, planned the necessary 
human resources, enhanced the capital base and is 
continuously seeking to upgrade and develop IT system 
to address the need of the hour.  The Company is 
upgrading its security aspects, hardware infrastructure 
and data-base and is in the process of diversifying its 
distribution channel through Mobile APP.

The company follows a prudent provisioning policy 
and this has given it an advantageous NPA coverage of 
464% (including the specific reserve for non-performing 
assets) which will help the company to tide over any 
unforeseen losses. The company shall continue to 
maintain its provisioning stance subject to behaviour 
of the debt.

The company is proactive, confident, and properly geared up to meet challenges and exploit available opportunities for 
a profitable and sustainable growth both in the short as well as long run without compromising on the asset quality. 

Product Wise Performance
The company with its existing product lines of project funding through consortium financing, working capital funding, 
asset financing, bills discounting and debt factoring, including its ‘Lifeline’ and ‘Lifestyle’ segments has managed to 
retain quality assets.  
 
The retail asset financing product under the brand 
name ‘Lifeline’ offers a variety of specialised finance 
products for the self-employed, salaried individuals, 
transport operators, small and large businesses, etc. 
The ‘Lifestyle’ loan segment (micro credit program) 
continues to do exceedingly where the company has a 
good network through its branches and employer tie-
ups. 

Our service has the unique attributes of speed, 
transparency, quick response, empathy, understanding 
customer concerns and ethical fair practices. We 
endeavour to build products and services around 
customer needs.  Our deliverables of simple 
documentation, quick credit approvals, competitive 
interest rates and other value-added services have created a large, satisfied clientele for the company.

Business Continuity Plan
Based on the Board approved Business Continuity Plan (BCP), and based on Business Impact analysis, the company 
has tested the BCP successfully from its BCP site at Nizwa on the 15 December 2022. 
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The company has the necessary BCP set 
up at its alternate site at Nizwa and back 
up and disaster recovery operations for 
its IT Systems were tested and found 
robust. The company has the capacity to 
continue major operational activities in the 
unfortunate event of major disruptions 
with minimum down time. 

Risks and Concerns
Managing risks means understanding the 
static and dynamic risks involved in our 
businesses and assessing the potential 
impacts and likelihood of each risk. The 
overall risk governance framework of 
the company includes strong corporate 
oversight, independent internal audit function and well laid down policies and processes. 
The company is exposed to strategic risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. 
 
Strategic Risk
Strategic risk is the potential for loss arising from ineffective business strategies, the absence of integrated 
business strategies, the inability to implement integrated business strategies, and the inability to adapt the 
strategies to changes in the business environment.

The company’s overall strategy is established and approved by the Board in consultation with the 
Management and the Senior Executive Team.  The most significant strategic risks faced by the company are 
identified, assessed, managed, and mitigated by Senior Management, with oversight by the Board.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and will cause 
the other party to incur a financial loss. The company attempts to control credit risk by setting limits for 
individual borrowers, monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific counter parties, and 
assessing continually the creditworthiness of counter parties. 

The default risk for the company is at an acceptable level. The company has substantially low NPA levels and 
highest NPA Coverage in the industry. 

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will be unable to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due.  The 
business of lending has an inherent risk of liquidity arising from the mismatch of tenure of funds borrowed 
vis a vis lent, in addition to unforeseen adverse recovery patterns.  

To limit the liquidity risk, the Management through their carefully drawn up strategies, resorts to diversified sources 
of funds, avoids undue concentration on a single lender, periodically reviews cash flows and manages its collection 
in a systematic manner. Since March 2022, the FED has undertaken their most aggressive monetary tightening in 
decades in response to soaring inflation. Rial Omani being pegged to USD, the local rates, as expected, mirrored the 
FED hike. Anticipating this, the company has settled all its unhedged USD term loans on their respective earliest 
reset dates. The company has taken appropriate treasury management actions to effectively optimise the cost of 
funds for 2023. The company has built up deposits over past several years and the deposits are placed with local 
commercial banks which provide ample liquidity buffer for effective treasury management. 

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the fair 
values of financial instruments.  The company is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches or gaps in 
the amounts of assets and liabilities and off-balance sheet instruments that mature or re-price in a given period. 
The company manages this risk by matching the re-pricing of assets and liabilities through risk management 
strategies.

Internal Control and Adequacy
The company believes that Internal Control is a necessary concomitant of the principle of governance and has 
made conscious efforts to instil effective Internal Control and processes.

The company has Board committees and Management committees, which are involved in strategic decision 
making, ensuring efficient and effective operations of the company and incorporating good corporate governance 
policies in line with the regulatory requirements. 

The company has a well-defined organization structure, clearly defined authority levels well documented policies 
and guidelines approved by the Board and robust IT systems to ensure process efficiency.  

The company has put in place a mechanism to minimize operational risk by way of effective Internal Controls, 
Systems Reviews and an on–going Internal Audit program. The company has an in-house Internal Audit department, 
and the internal auditor undertakes comprehensive audits and reports directly to the Audit Committee of the 
Board. The Audit Committee of the Board reviews the internal audit reports, the adequacy of the internal controls 
and reports on the same to the Board.

Financial Performance 2022

Operational Performance
The year 2022 was a year of moderate recovery for the world economy as a whole. The company managed to grow 
modestly while maintaining its asset quality. Looking back, we take pride in the achievements of the company as 
a leading player in the industry in maintaining quality assets and lowest NPA. Today’s position has been achieved 
with careful planning and clear strategies, supported by sound vision and guidance by the Board. The company has 
successfully overcome the liquidity stress by maintaining a prudent mix of short-term vs long term borrowing, local 
and offshore. 
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The non-performing loans of the company are under control and the company’s existing estimated credit loss level of 
RO 13.795 million (excluding ECL on deposits). The non-performing assets coverage including the specific reserve for 
non-performing assets stands at 464%. 

The Loan Book stands at stands at RO 119 million as against the last year level of RO 105.6 million at the year 
end. The net operating income stood at RO 10.36 million as compared to RO 10.96 million in the previous year. The 
company was able to register a net profit of RO 2.75 million for the year 2022 against RO 2.56 million for 2021. 

For all the regulatory purposes, the company’s net worth stands at RO 69.905 million. The Book Value / Net Asset 
Value of the company’s share stands at RO 0.219.  The company has proposed a dividend of 12.25% for the year 2022 
which is subject to approval of CBO and at the AGM.  This would take the total pay-out since inception to 478.58%.

Performance review 
(in RO ‘000)

Years
Details 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Total income 19,790 18,284 17,640 16,222 15,671 14,754
Interest expenses (6,470) (6,141) (6,028) (6,061) (4,684) (4,452)
Net Income 13,320 12,143 11,612 10,161 10,987 10,302
Operating expenses (4,737) (4,449) (4,401) (4,046) (4,449) (4,816)
(Loss) Gain on Derivative - - - - (24) 55
Estimated Credit Loss (3,100) (2,956) (3,176) (4,706) (3,498) (2,305)
Reversal of Taxed Provision for 
Impairment Instalment Receivables 2,939 - - - - -

Profit before taxation 8,422 4,738 4,035 1,409 3,016 3,236
Income Tax (Expense) / Credit (1,000) (245) (605) 40 (452) (486)
Income Tax Expense - Prior Yr - (466) - - - -
Deferred Tax Adjustment 441 - - - - -
Net profit 6,981 4,027 3,430 1,449 2,564 2,750
Gross HP assets 222,800 196,200 160,363 114,558 117,036 132,483
Net HP assets 216,745 189,725 153,716 105,698 105,558 119,061
Estimated Credit Loss 6,055 6,975 6,925 9,091 11,851 13,795
Total Assets 244,604 236,235 243,767 181,454 197,547 206,589
Net bank borrowings 136,713 107,295 71,227 28,667 21,915 33,905
Net worth 70,366 69,663 69,871 69,263 70,658 69,905
Earnings per share (stated in 100 Baisas 
per Share for comparative purpose) 0.026 0.014 0.012 0.005 0.009 0.009

Debt Equity ratio (net bank borrowing)       1.94       1.54       1.02       0.41       0.31       0.49
ECL on Instalment finance receivable 
as a percentage of assets 2.72% 3.30% 4.14% 7.73% 9.81% 10.13%

Dividend % 20% 16.28% 11.05% 4.0% 12.0% *12.25%

  *	 Dividend for 2022 (7.25% cash and 5% Compulsorily-Convertible bonus stock bonds subject to approval at the 
AGM).

Human Resources
Employees are a critical part of our competitive advantage. We have sound Human Resource policies, on and off the 
job training, counselling and a scientifically designed reward system, which helps us to create a dependable, highly 
skilled and motivated work force. During the year the company has increased its Omanisation percentage and it is in 
the process of recruiting more number of nationals in 2023.  

Our customer
AOFS is committed to delivering superior value through a powerful, distinctive branding which ensures better customer 
retention, better value and increased business with each customer. Our huge client base stands testimony to this fact.

Capital Structure
The Company’s objective of the capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order 
to support its business and maximise shareholder value. The company manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in the light of changes in business conditions.  No changes were made in the objectives, policies or 
processes during the current year. 

The Company’s lead regulator Central Bank of Oman sets and monitors capital requirement as a whole. The Company’s 
current paid up capital is RO 30.321 million which is well above the regulatory requirement of RO 25 million. One of our 
existing convertible bonus stock bonds (listed in 2017) got converted to Equity Shares in May 2022.  Another lot of the 
existing convertible bonus stock bonds (listed in 2018) will be converted to Equity Shares in 2023 resulting in further 
Capital enhancement.

Future Outlook
The company has reached its healthy position in the industry today after undergoing many business cycles under 
challenging economic circumstances. The company has also capitalized every single growth opportunity with its 
enviable strengths namely, 
•	 Sound and innovative capital structure.
•	 Superior service to its loyal customers.
•	 Novel and valuable integrated business model.
•	 Lesser delinquency ratio due to very effective collection mechanism.
•	 Good provisioning for impairment.
•	 Timely product diversification.
•	 Consistent earnings.

•	 Highly automated IT real time systems and processes.

We remain focused on maintaining quality assets with the objective of consistent returns for all our stakeholders. Our 
priorities for the coming year are:
•	 Cautious lending policies in all existing product lines. 
•	 Products structuring & better packaging to suit the market demand.
•	 Manage liquidity and costs judiciously ensuring sustainable earnings and profitability. 
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•	 Continue our leadership excellence and continue training and retaining the highly skilled and diverse work force.
•	 Offer superior delivery mechanism and personalised customer service to build customer loyalty and superior brand 

positioning. 

From inception till date the company has been delivering on its commitment of increasing shareholders’ wealth in 
its relentless pursuit of excellence. Our endeavor is to constantly seek out new processes, products and efficiencies 
aimed at making things better for our customers.  Our success is attributable to the dedication of our employees and 
our continued focus on keeping commitments to our stakeholders. The management continues to closely monitor 
economic conditions and indicators including interest rates, delinquency and capital markets. The sound guidance 
and encouragement from our Board of Directors has played a significant role in maintaining the asset quality and 
profitability.  Our aim is to build on our heritage of success and to make AOFS, an outstanding and illustrious financial 
service provider for today and the next generation.

AFTAB PATEL
Chief Executive Officer

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Shareholders of

Al Omaniya Financial Services SAOG
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2022 2021
Note RO RO

Interest income on finance lease, working capital 
finance and other advances 8,923,339 9,101,065

Finance income 3,756,083 3,656,894

Total Instalment finance and finance income 12,679,422 12,757,959

Interest expense (4,452,739) (4,684,518)

Net Instalment finance and finance income 8,226,683 8,073,441

Other income 3 2,074,994 2,913,339

Operating expenses 4 (4,705,332) (4,326,886)

Provision for expected credit loss, net 6, 8 (2,304,834) (3,498,275)

Gain/(loss) on derivative 55,388 (23,640)

Depreciation 10 (110,672) (121,992)

Profit before tax 3,236,227   3,015,987

Income tax 5 (486,417) (452,398)

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 2,749,810 2,563,589

Basic earnings per share 22 0.009               0.009

Diluted earnings per share 23 0.009 0.009

	
The attached notes on pages 48 to 93 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December

2022 2021
Note RO RO

Assets
Cash and bank balances 6 85,392,841 89,585,385
Deposit with the Central Bank of Oman 7 250,000 250,000
Net investment in finance lease, working capital finance and other advances 8 119,060,854 105,557,952
Other assets and prepayments 9 1,044,280 1,201,943
Property, equipment and right-of-use assets 10 841,461 951,762
Total assets 206,589,436 197,547,042
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Short term loans 11 39,300,000 18,000,000
Deposits 12 4,500,000 3,000,000
Term loans 13 79,624,500 93,873,250
Compulsorily convertible bonds 20 3,426,235 5,569,143
Non convertible redeemable Bonds 21 1,459,676 -
Other liabilities 14 11,131,245 11,313,457
Income tax payable 5 669,013 701,921
Total liabilities 140,110,669 132,457,771

Equity
Share capital 15 30,321,363    29,193,517
Share premium 16 751,385 112,272
Legal reserve 17 10,107,122 9,731,173
Exchange reserve 18 636,114 3,616,822
Special reserve for non-performing assets 24 4,997,937 4,997,937
Retained earnings 19,664,846 17,437,550
Total equity 66,478,767 65,089,271

Total liabilities and equity 206,589,436 197,547,042

Net assets per share 27 0.219 0.223

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on  29th January 2023 and are signed on their behalf by:

Chairman Chief Executive Officer Director

The attached notes on pages 48 to 93 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2022
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Share
capital

Share 
premium

Legal      
reserve

Exchange
reserve

Special 
reserve 

for non- 
performing 

assets
Retained
earnings Total

Cost Note RO RO RO RO RO RO RO

At 1 January 2021 29,193,517 112,272 9,731,173 - 4,997,937 19,658,524 63,693,423

Profit and total comprehensive income 
for the year - -  - - - 2,563,589 2,563,589

Transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity

Dividend paid 19 - - - - -  (1,167,741) (1,167,741)

Transfer to Exchange reserve 18 - - -   3,616,822 - (3,616,822) -

At 31 December 2021 29,193,517 112,272 9,731,173 3,616,822 4,997,937 17,437,550 65,089,271

At 1 January 2022 29,193,517 112,272 9,731,173 3,616,822                  4,997,937 17,437,550 65,089,271

Profit and total comprehensive 
income for the year - -  - -        - 2,749,810 2,749,810

Transactions with owners, 
recognised directly in equity 21

Issue of non-convertible 
redeemable bonus stock bonds -       -  - -                - (1,459,676) (1,459,676)

Conversion of compulsorily convertible 
bonus stock bonds-2016                                    1,127,846 1,015,062  - -                - - 2,142,908

Dividend paid 19 -                 -       - -                -  (2,043,546) (2,043,546) 

Transfer to legal reserve                                                                                                                   - (375,949) 375,949 -                - - -

Reversal of exchange reserve 18 -                - - (2,980,708)                 - 2,980,708 -

At 31 December 2022 30,321,363 751,385 10,107,122 636,114 4,997,937 19,664,846 66,478,767

As approved by the regulatory authority and more fully explained in note 20, the unsecured fully compulsorily convertible bonds 
amounting to RO 3,426,235 (2021: RO 5,569,143) are treated as part of the Company’s net worth for computing all regulatory 
limits. Accordingly, the net worth as of 31 December 2022 for all regulatory purposes is RO 69,905,002 (2021: RO 70,658,414).

The attached notes on pages 48 to 93 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note RO RO

Operating activities

Profit before taxation 3,236,227 3,015,987
Adjustments for:
  Depreciation 10 110,672 121,992
  Profit on disposal of property and equipment 3 (10) (966)
  Loss on write-off of capital work in progress 10 33,113            -
  Provision for expected credit loss  6, 8 2,304,834 3,498,275
  (Gain)/loss on derivatives (55,388) 23,640
Operating profit before working capital changes: 5,629,448 6,658,928

Instalment finance receivable, working capital finance and other advances (15,807,736) (3,215,847)
Other assets and prepayments 213,051 (190,232)
Other liabilities (182,212) 3,933,772
Income tax paid (519,325) (211,404)
Net cash (used in) / from operating activities (10,666,774) 6,975,217
Investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment 10 (33,484)        (56,966)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment         10            966
Net cash used in investing activities (33,474) (56,000)
Financing activities

Proceeds from short term loans  70,100,000 186,500,000
Repayment of short term loans (48,800,000) (202,000,000)
Proceeds from deposits  3,500,000 1,000,000
Repayment of deposits (2,000,000) -
Proceeds from term loans 31,842,781 116,655,693
Repayment of term loans (46,091,531) (91,656,813)
Dividends paid 19 (2,043,546) (1,167,741)
Net cash from financing activities 6,507,704 9,331,139

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (4,192,544) 16,250,356

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 89,957,985 73,707,629

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 6 85,765,441 89,957,985

The attached notes on pages 48 to 93 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
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1. LEGAL STATUS AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Al Omaniya Financial Services SAOG (“the Company”) is an Omani general joint stock Company, licensed by the Central Bank 
of Oman and registered under the Commercial Companies Law of the Sultanate of Oman. The Company is engaged in the hire 
purchase and lease finance for motor vehicles and other assets, debt factoring, bills discounting, bridge loans, working capital 
loans and project and construction loans (construction loans restricting to manufacturing including warehousing only). The 
Company’s registered office is at PO. Box 1087, Jibroo, Postal Code 114, Muscat, Sultanate of Oman.

The Company operates in the Sultanate of Oman and employed 137 employees as of 31 December 2022 (2021: 147). The 
Company’s shares and compulsory convertible bonds are listed on Muscat Securities Market.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.1	 Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, as modified to include the fair value of certain financial 
assets and liabilities, if any. The accounting records are maintained in Rial Omani (RO) which is the functional and reporting 
currency for these financial statements. All figures have been rounded off to the nearest RO, unless otherwise stated.

2.2 (a) New Standards and Amendments to existing IFRS effective 01 January 2022 
The following amendments to IFRS have been applied by the Company in preparation of these consolidated financial statements. 
The below were effective: 

Amendment to Standards Effective date

)COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment to IFRS 16 January 2022 1
)Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37 January 2022 1
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 – 2020 January 2022 1
)Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16 January 2022 1
)Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3 January 2022 1

The adoption of the amendments did not result in changes to previously reported net profit or equity of the Company.

2.2 (b) Standards, amendments and interpretation issued but not yet effective
The forthcoming requirements of new Standard and amendments to existing Standards are applicable for future reporting 
periods. The Company will adopt these on annual periods beginning on or after the effective date.

Standards / Amendment to Standards Effective date

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1) 1 January 2023
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
Definition of Accounting Estimate (Amendments to IAS 8) 1 January 2023
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) 1 January 2023
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction       
(Amendments to IAS 12) 1 January 2023

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
(Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28) Deferred indefinitely

Management believes that adoption of the above new Standards, amendments and interpretations, which are in issue but not 
yet effective, is not likely to have any material impact on the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of items 
in the financial statements for current and future periods and foreseeable future transactions.

2.3	 Statement of compliance 

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board, applicable regulations of the Central Bank of Oman, 
applicable requirements of the Commercial Companies Law, and the Capital Market Authority of the Sultanate of Oman.  

The Company presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity, as this presentation is more appropriate 
to the Company’s operations.

2.4	 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. In particular, estimates that involve uncertainties 
and judgements which have a significant effect on the financial statements are set out below:

2.4.1 Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of tax regulations and the amount and timing of future taxable income. 
Given the wide range of business relationships and nature of existing contractual agreements, differences arising between the 
actual results and the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to 
tax income and expense already recorded. The Company establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible 
consequences of finalisation of tax assessments of the Company. The amount of such provisions is based on various factors, 
such as experience of previous tax assessments and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the 
responsible tax authority.

Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based 
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

2.4.2 Financial instruments 

Judgements made in applying accounting policies that have most significant effects on the amounts recognized in the financial 
statements of the year ended 31 December 2022 pertain to the changes introduced as a result of adoption of IFRS 9: Financial 
instruments which impact:

•	 Classification of financial assets: assessment of business models within which the assets are held and assessment of whether 
the contractual terms of the financial assets are solely payment of principal and interest of the principal amount outstanding.

•	 Calculation of expected credit loss (ECL): changes to the assumptions and estimate on uncertainties that have a significant 
impact on ECL for the year ended 31 December 2022. The impact is mainly driven by inputs, assumptions and techniques used 
for ECL calculation under IFRS 9 methodology.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2022
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for ECL calculation – IFRS 9 Methodology

The measurement of IFRS 9 ECL across all categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the estimation of the 
amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining ECL and the assessment of a significant increase 
in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances. 
The Company’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice 
of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL model that are considered accounting judgements and 
estimates include:

•	 Probability of default: PD constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given 
time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions.

•	 Loss Given Default: LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash 
flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and integral credit 
enhancements.

•	 The Company’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for financial assets 
should be measured on a LTECL basis and the qualitative assessment;

•	 The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis;

•	 Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of product / market and 
determining the forward looking information relevant to each scenario: When measuring ECL the Company uses reasonable 
and supportable forward looking information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic 
drivers and how these drivers will affect each other.

2.4.3 Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options

The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option 
to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is 
reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Company has the option, under some of its leases to lease the assets for additional terms. The Company applies judgement 
in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create 
an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the commencement date, the Company reassesses the lease term if 
there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) 
the option to renew or to terminate.

2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Company to all periods presented in these financial 
statements.

2.5.1 Revenue recognition

Finance Lease Income 

Leases in terms of which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. Assets owned by the Company and subject to finance leases are included in the financial statements as ‘Net investment 
in finance leases’ at an amount equivalent to the present value of the future minimum lease payments plus initial direct costs, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, and the difference between the aggregate lease contract receivable and the 
cost of the leased assets plus initial direct costs is recorded as unearned lease finance income. Initial direct costs include amounts 

that are incremental and directly attributable to negotiating and arranging a lease. They exclude general overheads such as those 
incurred by sales and marketing teams. Income from finance leases represents gross earnings on finance leases allocated to the 
period of the lease using the net investment method, which reflects a constant periodic rate of return. The gross return is adjusted 
by way of transaction costs incurred that are directly attributable to the origination of lease contract such as dealer commission 
etc. Lease processing fee charges are recognised within ‘finance income’ based on effective interest rate. 

The lease finance income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest rate method. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts and payments through the expected life 
of the financial asset or liability to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. The effective interest rate is established 
on initial recognition of the financial asset or liability and is not revised subsequently.

Interest income on working capital and other loans and interest expenses

Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest method. The 
‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument to:
– the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
– the amortised cost of the financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired assets, 
the Company estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not ECL. For purchased 
or originated credit impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash 
flows including ECL.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. 
Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial 
liability.

Interest income includes income on factoring and working capital finance receivables and is recognised over the tenure of 
agreement. Factoring contracts are generally for a term ranging between 90 days to 180 days. 

For the financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by 
applying the effective interest rate to their amortised cost (i.e. net of the expected credit loss provision). If the asset is no longer 
credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis. Penal charges, insurance fee and other operating 
fees are recognised when realised. 

2.5.2	 Directors’ remuneration

The Board of Directors’ remuneration is accrued as an expense for the year within the limits specified by the Capital Market 
Authority and the requirements of the Commercial Companies Law of the Sultanate of Oman.

2.5.3 Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Taxation is provided in accordance with Omani fiscal regulations.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years.
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Income tax is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Deferred tax assets/liabilities are calculated using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  The 
amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

2.5.4 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, current accounts and deposit 
held at call with financial institutions with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject to insignificant risk 
of changes in fair value, and are used by the Bank in the management of its short-term commitments.

Cash and cash equivalents are non-derivative financial assets stated at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.

2.5.5 Lease assets

Leases in terms of which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. Assets owned by the Company and subject to finance leases are included in the statement of financial position as 
net investment in finance lease, working capital finance and factoring receivables at an amount equivalent to the present 
value of the future minimum lease payments plus initial direct costs, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
The difference between the aggregate lease contract receivables and the cost of the leased assets plus initial direct costs is 
recorded as unearned lease finance income. The initial direct costs include amounts such as commissions and legal fees that 
are incremental and directly attributable to negotiating and arranging a lease. They exclude general overheads such as those 
incurred by sales and marketing team. Interest on factoring and working capital finance receivables is recognized over the 
tenure of agreement. Factoring contracts are generally for a term ranging between 90 days to 180 days. 

2.5.6  Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Cost 
includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Land is not depreciated. The cost of property 
and equipment is depreciated on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful 
lives are:

- Vehicles	 5 years

- Furniture and office equipment	 5 years

- Buildings	 25 years

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
the carrying value may not be recoverable. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable 
amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposals of property and equipment are 
determined by reference to their carrying amounts and are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.  Depreciation 
methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. 

Compulsorily convertible bonds are non-derivative financial instruments for which the entity is obliged to deliver a variable number 
of the entity’s own share. These are recorded as financial liabilities until conversion to shares and are carried on the statement 
of financial position at their principal cost. Interest is charged as it accrues, with unpaid amounts included in other liabilities. On 
conversion, the financial liability is reclassified to equity and no gain or loss is recognised.

2.5.8  Non-convertible bonds

Non-convertible Bonds are recorded as financial liabilities and are carried in the statement of financial position at their principal 
cost and they are redeemable after 60 months from the listing date. Interest is charged as it accrues, with unpaid amount included 
in other liabilities.

2.5.9  Bank borrowings 

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable 
transaction costs. After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

2.5.10  Deposits

Deposits are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. After 
initial recognition, interest bearing deposits are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.5.11 Other liabilities

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Company.

2.5.12  Employees’ end of service benefits

Provision for end of service indemnity for non-Omani employees is made in accordance with the terms of the Oman Labour 
Law 2003 and its amendments and is based on current remuneration rates and cumulative years of service at the reporting 
date. Employees’ entitlements to annual leave and leave passage are recognized when they accrue to the employees up to the 
reporting date. These accruals are included other liabilities.

Contributions to a defined contribution retirement plan and occupational hazard insurance for Omani employees in accordance 
with the Omani Social Insurances Law of 1991 and its subsequent amendments are recognised as an expense in the statement 
of comprehensive income as incurred.

2.5.13  Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the Company at spot exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
into Rial Omani at the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date. Any gains or losses are recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional 
currency at the spot exchange rate prevailing at the date on which the fair value is determined. Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate prevailing 
at the date of the transaction.
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2.5.14 Financial instruments 

2.5.14. a. Recognition and initial measurement 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset for the Company and a financial liability or equity 
instrument for another party or vice versa.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument  At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset or a financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the 
case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through comprehensive income, transaction costs that are incremental 
and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions. 
Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) are expensed in the 
statement of comprehensive income. The amortized cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured 
at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method 
of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

2.5.14. b.  Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
•	 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
	
•	 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 

financial assets; and
•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent 
changes in fair value in the statement of other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

In addition, on initial recognition the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements 
to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch 
that would otherwise arise.
	
Financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Company classifies and measures its financial assets that are debt instruments at amortized cost. Debt instruments are 
those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer’s perspective, such as working capital finance, 
statutory deposit and other financial receivables.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:
-	 The Company’s business model for managing the asset; and
-	 The cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on the following factors, the Company classifies its debt instruments at amortized cost.
	
Contractual cash flows 

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest (SPPI), and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortized cost. The carrying amount of these assets 
is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognized. Interest earned from these financial assets is recognized in the 
comprehensive income or loss using the effective interest rate method.

Business model assessment

The Company makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because 
this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered 
includes:
•	 the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether 

management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, 
matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising cash 
flows through the sale of the assets;

•	 how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management;
•	 the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and how 

those risks are managed;
•	 how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed 

or the contractual cash flows collected; and
•	 the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about future sales 

activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how 
the Company’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking ‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios 
into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different from the Company’s original expectations, 
the Company does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model, but incorporates 
such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward. 

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (The ‘SPPI’ test)
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ 
is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding 
during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well 
as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Company considers the 
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could 
change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, 
the Company considers:
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•	 contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

•	 leverage features; 

•	 prepayment and extension terms;

•	 terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset arrangements); and 
features that modify consideration of the time value of money – e.g. periodical reset of interest rates.

The Company holds a portfolio of long-term fixed rate loans for which the Company has the option to propose to revise the 
interest rate at periodic reset dates. These reset rights are limited to the market rate at the time of revision. The borrowers 
have an option to either accept the revised rate or redeem the loan at par without penalty. The Company has determined that 
the contractual cash flows of these loans are solely payments of principal and interest because the option varies the interest 
rate in a way that is consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and costs associated with 
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments

The Company issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments. Financial guarantee contracts are in the scope 
of the ECL requirements. 

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements (within Provisions) at fair value, being the premium 
received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company’s liability under each guarantee is measured at higher of the amount 
initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the income statement, and an ECL provision under IFRS 9.

The premium received is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in Net fees and commission income on a straight 
line basis over the life of the guarantee.

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the commitment, the 
Company is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. 
The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments, where the loan agreed to 
be provided is on market terms, are not recorded on in the statement of financial position.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘amortised cost’.  A financial liability is classified as at 
FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities 
at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gain and losses, including any interest expense, are recognized in statement of 
comprehensive income. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective interest method. 
Interest expense and foreign exchange gain and losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Any gain or 
losses on derecognition is also recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

Derivatives

The Company has entered into short-term (less than 2 years) interest rate swap derivative instruments to convert floating rate 
funding into fixed rate funding.  Due to the short-term nature of the transactions, hedge accounting is not applied.  Instead, these 
derivative instruments are carried at fair value as at the end of the reporting period and the corresponding fair value changes are 
taken to the statement of comprehensive income.

Debt issued and other borrowed funds

After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowed funds are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Amortised cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on issue of funds, and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. 
A compound financial instrument which contains both a liability and an equity component is separated at the issue date.
        
2.5.15  Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Financial assets:

A financial asset (in whole or in part) is derecognised where:

(a)	 the right to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

(b)	 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement.

	
When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, 
and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, 
the asset is recognised to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Company also 
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights 
and obligations that the Company has retained. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred 
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Company could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities:

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition 
of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in statement of comprehensive income.

2.5.16 Impairment of financial assets 

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECL on the following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:
•	 financial assets that are debt instruments;
•	 lease receivables 
•	 financial guarantee contracts issued; and

•	 loan commitments issued.

No ECL is recognised on equity investments. The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except 
for other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition which they are 
measured as 12-month ECL.

12-month ECL are the portion of lifetime ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 
the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which 12-month ECL are recognised are referred to as ‘Stage 
1 financial instruments’. Financial instruments allocated to Stage 1 have not undergone a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition and are not credit-impaired.
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Lifetime ECL (LTECL) are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument 
or the maximum contractual period of exposure. Financial instruments for which lifetime ECL are recognised but that are not 
credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 2 financial instruments’. Financial instruments allocated to Stage 2 are those that have 
experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but are not credit-impaired.

Financial instruments for which lifetime ECL are recognised and that are credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial 
instruments’.

(i)  Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:
§	financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the 

difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company 
expects to receive);

§	financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows;

§	undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to the 
Company if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive; and

§	financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the Company expects 
to recover.

(ii) Overview of the ECL principles

The Company records the allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at FVTPL, 
together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, in this section all referred to as ‘financial instruments. Equity 
instruments are not subject to ECL under IFRS 9. 

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit loss or 
LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance is based on the 
12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL). 

The 12m ECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that are 
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.  

Both LTECLs and 12m ECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on the nature of the 
underlying portfolio of financial instruments. 

The Company has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a financial 
instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default occurring 
over the remaining life of the financial instrument. 

Based on the above process, the Company groups its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and purchased or originated credit 
impaired financial assets POCI, as described below:

Stage 1 
When financing are first recognised, the Company recognises an allowance based on 12 month ECLs. Stage 1 financing exposure 
also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the financing exposure has been reclassified from Stage 2.

After initial recognition if the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition – recognise 12-month expected 
credit losses.

Stage 2

When a financing exposure has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Company records an allowance 
for the LTECLs. Stage 2 financing exposure also include facilities, where the credit risk has improved and the financing exposure 
has been reclassified from Stage 3 with revenue being calculated based on the gross amount of the asset

Stage 3

When the financing exposure is considered credit-impaired, the Company records an allowance for the LTECLs with revenue 
being based on the net amount of the asset (that is, based on the impaired amount of the asset).

(iii)  The calculation of ECLs

The Company calculates ECLs based on a three probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls, 
discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to an entity in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows:
§	PD - The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default may only 

happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously derecognised and is still in the 
portfolio. 

§	EAD - The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes 
in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled by contract or 
otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed payments. 

§	LGD - The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. It is based 
on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the Company would expect to receive, including 
from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD. 

(iv)  Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for ECLs are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:
§	financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;
§	loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision;
§	where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Company cannot identify the ECL 

on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component: the Company presents a combined 
loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of 
the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as a 
provision; and

(v)  Purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets (POCI)

For POCI financial assets, the Company only recognises the cumulative changes in LTECL since initial recognition in the loss 
allowance.
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(vi)  Forward looking information
In its ECL models, the Company relies on a broad range of forward looking information as economic inputs, such as:
§	Gross domestic product

§	Oil prices and production

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the market at the date of the 
financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made as temporary adjustments when 
such differences are significantly material. 

(vii) Valuation of the collateral

To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Company seeks to use collateral, where possible. The collateral comes in various 
forms, such as cash, securities, letters of credit/guarantees, real estate, receivables, inventories, other non-financial assets 
and credit enhancements such as netting agreements. The Company’s collateral, unless repossessed, is not recorded on the 
Company’s statement of financial position. However, the fair value of collateral affects the calculation of ECLs. It is the policy of 
the Company to include collateral in ECL only if the fair value are validated by external valuer except for Cash/Bank Balance.

To the extent possible, the Company uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as collateral. Non-financial collateral, 
such as real estate, is valued by certified third party valuers.

(viii) Write-offs
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally 
the case when the Company determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate 
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be 
subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

2.5.16 Impairment of non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

If the recoverable amount of an asset, or cash-generating unit, is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset, or cash-generating unit, is reduced to the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in the statement of other comprehensive income, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount and the income is recognised as income immediately, provided that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised earlier. 

If the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

2.5.17 Renegotiated net investment in finance lease, working capital facilities and other advances

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due to 
financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be derecognized and 
ECL are measured as follows.

§	If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash flows arising from 
the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset.

§	If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected amortised  fair value of the 
new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition. This amount is 
included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of 
derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset.

2.5.18 Provisions

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the 
effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

2.5.19 Dividend on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by the Company’s 
shareholders, subject to the approval of the Central Bank of Oman. Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are paid.

2.5.20 Fair values

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on a number 
of accounting policies and methods. Where applicable, information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is 
disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. Details are set out in note 28.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the 
asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
§	In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

§	In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the 
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits 
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest 
and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

2.5.21 Earnings per share

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing 
the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
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the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprises 
compulsory convertible bonds.

2.5.22 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments, has been identified as the Management Committee that makes strategic decisions.

2.5.23 Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary for a loss 
incurred because the debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of the debt. Such guarantees are 
given to banks, financial institutions or other entities on behalf of the customers.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value on the date the guarantee was issued. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company’s liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of initial 
measurement, less amortisation calculated to recognise in the statement of comprehensive income the fee income earned on 
the straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee and the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle any financial 
obligation arising at the reporting date. These estimates are determined based on experience of similar transactions and history 
of past losses, supplemented by the judgment of management. Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is taken to the 
statement of comprehensive income.

2.5.24 Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the Company intends to either settle on a net basis, or 
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.5.25 Leases

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right 
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

Company as a lessee
The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the 
right to use the underlying assets.

a.  Right of use assets
The Company recognises right of use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available 
for use). Right of use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right of use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct 
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. The right of 
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term. Right of use 
assets are subject to impairment.

b.  Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in- substance fixed payments) 
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid 
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be 
exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising 
the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the 
period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease 
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying 
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g. 
a changes in future payments resulting from a change in index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the 
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

c. Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that have a lease 
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-
value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Company as a lessor
At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocate the consideration in the 
contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether the lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. 

To classify each lease, the Company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an 
operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Company considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major 
part of the economic life of the asset.

The Company applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the finance lease. The 
Company further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the lease.

An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an 
underlying asset. Lease payments from operating leases are recognised as income on a straight line basis unless another 
systematic basis is more representative of the pattern in which benefit from the use of the underlying asset is diminished. Costs 
incurred in earning the lease income, including depreciation are recognised as an expense. Initial direct cost incurred in obtaining 
lease. are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same 
basis as the lease income. Modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new lease from the effective date of the 
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued leased payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease payments for 
the new lease. The respective leased assets are included in the statement of financial position based on their nature.
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3.  Other income
2022 2021

RO RO

Collections of Instalments from accounts fully netted off against provision 1,943,586 2,548,526
Documentation and related charges 76,207 207,756
Group Credit Life Insurance Income 55,191 156,091
Profit on sale of property and equipment 10 966

2,074,994 2,913,339

4.  Operating expenses
2022 2021

RO RO

Salaries and other benefits 3,904,512 3,610,023
Directors’ sitting fees & remuneration (note 26) 384,800 382,800
Fuel and maintenance 90,594 76,292
Professional fees 68,882 40,836
Fees and other charges 53,006 52,754
Miscellaneous expenses 52,029 60,979
Telephone and postage 39,169 28,242
Loss on write-off of capital work in progress (note 10) 33,113 -
Advertising 29,000 34,666
Utilities and rental expense 26,286 18,865
Insurance 12,000 11,500
Printing and stationery 6,748 6,254
Travelling 5,193 3,675

4,705,332 4,326,886
Salaries and other benefits comprise:

2022 2021
RO RO

Salaries 2,561,646 2,468,291
Other benefits 1,118,887 950,248

Contribution to social insurance 145,561 132,371
Employee end of service benefits 78,418 59,113

3,904,512 3,610,023

5  Taxation
               2022 2021

                  RO RO
Income statement:
Current year 486,417 452,398
Prior years - -

486,417 452,398
Current liability:
Current year 486,417 452,398
Prior years 182,596 249,523

669,013 701,921

 Following is the tax reconciliation for the year:	

Accounting profit before tax 3,236,227 3,015,987
Tax at  the applicable rate of 15% (2021: 15%) 485,434 452,398
 Expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit: 983 3,751
 Reversal of tax Provision of prior years - (3,751)

486,417 452,398

The reconciliation of taxation on the accounting profit with the current taxation charge for the year is as follows:
2022 2021

RO RO

Accounting profit 3,236,227 3,015,987

Expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 1,169 -

Gain that are not taxable in determining taxable profit - -

Depreciation-net 5,386 -

Taxable profit 3,242,782 3,015,987

Tax at the applicable rate of 15% (2021: 15%) 486,417 452,398

The above adjustments in accounting profit to arrive at taxable profit are based on the current understanding of the existing tax 
laws, regulations and practices. Income tax rate applicable for the year is 15% (2021: 15%).

The tax assessments for the years up to 2018 have been completed. The tax returns of the Company for the tax years 2019 to 
2021 have not yet been assessed by the Tax Authority. Management is of the opinion that any further additional taxes, if any, 
related to the open tax years would not be significant to the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2022. 
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6  Cash and bank balances

2022 2021
RO RO

Term deposits  85,000,000    85,000,000
Current accounts 745,784 4,943,086
Cash in hand 19,657 14,899

85,765,441 89,957,985
Less: allowance for expected credit loss (372,600) (372,600)

85,392,841 89,585,385

Provision for ECL of deposits with commercial banks:
At 1 January 372,600 230,040
Provided during the year – deposits with commercial banks - 142,560
At 31 December 372,600 372,600

Term deposits are placed with commercial banks in Oman and carry annual interest rates in the range of 0.5% to  5% (2021: 0.5% 
to 4.80%) and the Company has the right to pre-close these deposits with no significant outflow (due to related loans), provided 
an agreed number of working days’ notice period is served. 

7  Deposit with the central bank of Oman
The deposit represents a capital deposit with the Central Bank of Oman (“CBO”) made in accordance with the Banking Law of 
1974. The deposit is only repayable if the Company terminates its instalment finance business within the Sultanate of Oman 
and settles all outstanding obligations and claims arising from that business. 

2022 2021
RO RO

Gross investment in finance leases
Corporate debtors:

Instalment finance lease 60,891,062 55,005,338
Working capital and other advances          52,431,362          38,808,550
Total corporate debtors       113,322,424 93,813,888
Retail debtors 32,683,473 34,288,213

146,005,897 128,102,101
Less: unearned finance income (13,522,666) (11,065,995)

132,483,231 117,036,106

Less: Allowance for expected credit loss, including reserved finance interest (13,422,377) (11,478,154)

119,060,854 105,557,952

8. Net investment in finance lease, working capital finance and other advances

i) 2022 2021
Gross finance 

Receivables
Present value of 

finance receivables
Gross finance 

receivables
Present value of 

finance receivables
RO RO RO RO

Not later than one year 67,909,502 61,456,843 75,583,624 70,141,790

Before one year and less than three years 53,557,239 47,637,879 38,743,463 34,097,633

Later than three years 24,539,156 23,388,509 13,775,014     12,796,683

146,005,897 132,483,231 128,102,101 117,036,106

ii)  Gross finance receivable and present value of finance receivable includes instalment finance, working capital and other advances. 
Net investment in finance leases, working capital finance and other advances are stated net of accumulated provision for ECL and 
reserved finance interest. The movement in provision for ECL and reserved finance interest for the year is analysed as follows:

2022 2021
RO RO

Provision for ECL:

At 1 January 11,268,304 8,772,014

 Provided during the year 5,661,676 5,216,272

Released during the year (3,356,842) (1,860,557)

Amounts written off (527,504) (859,425)

At 31 December 13,045,634 11,268,304

Reserved finance interest

At 1 January 209,850 88,612

Reserved during the year 259,698 195,218

 Released during the year (60,267) (30,588)

Amounts written off (32,538) (43,392)

At 31 December 376,743 209,850

Allowance for ECL including reserved finance interest 13,422,377 11,478,154
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iii) The below table shows comparison of provision held as per IFRS 9 and required as per CBO norms:

31 December 2022
(Amounts in RO’000)

Asset 
Classification as 
per CBO Norms

Asset 
Classification 
as per IFRS 9

Gross  
Amount            

Provision 
required 

as per CBO 
Norms

Provision 
held as per 

IFRS 9

Difference 
between CBO 

provision 
required and 

provision held

Net Amount 
as per CBO 

norms*

Net 
Amount as 
per IFRS 9

Interest 
recognised 
in P&L as 

per IFRS 9 i 

Reserved  
finance 

interest as 
per CBO 
norms 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) = (4)-(5) (7)=(3)-(4)-(10) (8) = (3)-(5) (9) (10)

Standard

Stage 1 114,380 -   6,750 (6,750) 114,330 107,630 -   50 

Stage 2 14,138 -   3,352 (3,352) 14,126 10,786 -   12 

Stage 3 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Subtotal   128,518 -   10,102 (10,102) 128,456 118,416 -   62 

Special Mention

Stage 1 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 2 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 3 770 47 637 (590) 695 133 -   28 

Subtotal   770 47 637 (590) 695 133 -   28 

Substandard

Stage 1 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 2 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 3 9 2 9 (7) 7 -   -   -   

Subtotal   9 2 9 (7) 7 -   -   -   

Doubtful

Stage 1 -       -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 2 -   -     -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 3 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Subtotal   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Loss

Stage 1 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 2 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 3 3,186 2,100 2,674 (574) 799 512 -   287 

Subtotal   3,186 2,100 2,674 (574) 799 512 -   287 
Other items not 
covered under 

CBO circular BM 
977 and related 

instructions         

Stage 1 -   -   373 (373) -   (373) -   -   

Stage 2 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 3 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Subtotal   -   -   373 (373) -   (373) -   -   

Total

Stage 1 114,380 -   7,123 (7,123) 114,330 107,257 -   50 

Stage 2 14,138 -   3,352 (3,352) 14,126 10,786 -   12 

Stage 3 3,965 2,149 3,320 (1,171) 1,501 645 -   315 

Total 132,483 2,149 13,795 (11,646) 129,957     118,688 -   377 

The below table shows comparison of provision held as per IFRS 9 and required as per CBO norms - 

31 December 2021
(Amounts in RO’000)

Asset 
Classification as 
per CBO Norms

Asset 
Classification 
as per IFRS 9

Gross  
Amount            

Provision 
required 

as per CBO 
Norms

Provision 
held as per 

IFRS 9

Difference 
between CBO 

provision 
required and 

provision held

Net Amount 
as per CBO 

norms*

Net Amount 
as per IFRS 

9

Interest 
recognized 
in P&L as 
per IFRS 9

Reserve 
interest as 

per CBO 
norms 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) = (4)-(5) (7)=(3)-(4)-(10) (8) = (3)-(5) (9) (10)

Standard

Stage 1 99,729 -   3,495      (3,495)      99,646      96,234 -   83 

Stage 2 12,900 -   4,484      (4,484)      12,891         8,416 -   9 

Stage 3 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

*Subtotal   112,629 -   7,979      (7,979)    112,537    104,650 -   92 

Special Mention

Stage 1 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 2 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 3 1,133 65 946 (881) 1,028 187 - 40

Subtotal   1,133 65 946 (881) 1,028 187 - 40

Substandard

Stage 1 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 2 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 3 3,179 777 2,449      (1,672) 2,332 730 -   70 

Subtotal   3,179 777 2,449      (1,672) 2,332 730 -   70 

Doubtful

Stage 1 -       -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 2 -   -     -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 3 - - - - -   - -   - 

Subtotal   - - - - -   - -   -

Loss

Stage 1 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 2 -   - - - -   - -   - 

Stage 3 95   87 103 (16) -   (8) -   8 

Subtotal   95   87 103 (16) -   (8) -   8 
Other items not 
covered under 

CBO circular BM 
977 and related 

instructions          

Stage 1 -   -   373 (373) -   (373) -   -   

Stage 2 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Stage 3 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Subtotal   -   -   373 (373) -   (373) -   -   

Total

Stage 1 99,729 -   3,868 (3,868) 99,646 95,861 -   83 

Stage 2 12,900 -   4,484 (4,484) 12,891 8,416 -   9 

Stage 3 4,407 929 3,498 (2,569) 3,360 909 -   118 

Total 117,036 929 11,850 (10,921) 115,897 105,186 -   210 
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iv)  The below table shows comparison of provision held as per IFRS 9 and required as per CBO norms for restructured accounts:

Restructured loans-2022
(Amounts in RO’000)

 Asset
 Classification

 as per CBO
Norms

 Asset
 Classification
as per IFRS 9

 Gross
 Carrying
Amount

 Provision
 required

 as per CBO
Norms

 Provision
 held as per

IFRS 9

 Difference
 between CBO

 provision
 required and
provision held

 Net Carrying
 Amount as per

*CBO norms

 Net
 Carrying

 Amount as
per IFRS 9

 Interest
 recognized
 in P&L as
 per IFRS 9

 Reserve
 interest as

 per CBO
 norms

)1( )2( )3( )4( )5( )5(-)4( = )6( )10(-)4(-)3(=)7( )5(-)3( = )8( )9( )10(

 Classified as
performing

Stage 1 - - - - - - - -
Stage 2 - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - - - - -

Subtotal

 Classified
as non-

performing

Stage 1 - - - - - - - -
Stage 2 - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 3,278 2,114 2,743 )629( 877 535 287

Sub total 3,278 2,114 2,743 )629( 877 535 - 287

Total

Stage 1 - - - - - - - -
Stage 2 - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 3,278 2,114 2,743 )629( 877 535 - 287

Total 3,278 2,114 2,743 )629( 877 535 - 287
 
Restructured loans-2021

(Amounts in RO’000)

Asset 
Classification 

as per CBO 
Norms

Asset 
Classification 
as per IFRS 9

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Provision 
required 

as per CBO 
Norms

Provision 
held as per 

IFRS 9

Difference 
between CBO 

provision 
required and 

provision held

Net Carrying 
Amount as 

per CBO 
norms*

Net Carrying 
Amount as 
per IFRS 9

Interest 
recognized 
in P&L as 
per IFRS 9 

Reserve 
interest as 

per CBO 
norms 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) = (4)-(5) (7)=(3)-(4)-(10) (8) = (3)-(5) (9) (10)

Classified as 
performing

Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3

Subtotal

Classified 
as non-

performing

Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3 3,155 762 2,399 (1,637) (2,325) 756 - 68

Sub total 3,155 762 2,399 (1,637) (2,325) 756 - 68

Total

Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3 3,155 762 2,399 (1,637) (2,325) 756 - 68

Total 3,155 762 2,399 (1,637) (2,325) 756 - 68

v) Gross carrying amount Stage 1   Stage 2      Stage 3                     Total
As at 1 January 2022 99,729,095 12,899,751 4,407,260 117,036,106
New 42,486,309 2,424,180 261,878 45,172,367
Repayment (26,697,990) (1,813,857) (653,352) (29,165,199)
Net transfer between stages (1,137,756) 627,605 510,151 -
Written off - - (560,043) (560,043)
As at 31 December 2022 114,379,658 14,137,679 3,965,894 132,483,231

Gross carrying amount Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
As at 1 January 2021 96,730,223 13,059,536 5,318,275 115,108,034
New 35,661,528 1,385,602 502,590 37,549,720
Repayment )31,388,990( )2,032,121( )1,297,720( )34,718,831(
Net transfer between stages )1,273,666( 486,734 786,932 -
Written off - - )902,817( )902,817(
As at 31 December 2021 99,729,095 12,899,751 4,407,260 117,036,106

ECL amount          Stage 1             Stage 2              Stage 3                  Total
As at 1 January 2022 3,412,461 4,475,409 3,380,434 11,268,304
Provided during the year 4,836,162 334,823 490,691 5,661,676
Released during the year (1,181,156) (1,505,672) (670,014) (3,356,842)
Net transfer between stages (367,322) 36,071 331,251 -
Written off - - (527,504) (527,504)
As at 31 December 2022 6,700,145 3,340,631 3,004,858 13,045,634

ECL amount Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
As at 1 January 2021 2,049,536 3,256,341 3,466,137 8,772,014
Provided during the year 2,738,165 1,186,998 1,291,109 5,216,272
Released during the year (611,677) (215,142) (1,033,738) (1,860,557)
Net transfer between stages (763,563) 247,212 516,351 -
Written off - - (859,425) (859,425)
As at 31 December 2021 3,412,461 4,475,409 3,380,434 11,268,304

Net investment in finance leases, working capital facilities and other advances  include amounts advanced to clients, interest on the 
amounts advanced and related charges. In the event of default in the settlement of debts, the Company has recourse to the client
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Finance interest is reserved by the Company to comply with the rules, regulations and guidelines issued by the Central Bank of 
Oman against impaired lease finance receivables, working capital facilities and other advances. 

vi)  The effective yield rate on the net investment in finance leases, working capital facilities and other advances excluding collection 
from accounts netted off against ECL provision is 7.84% (2021: 8.25%). The effective annual interest rate bands of lease finance 
receivables, working capital facilities and other advances are as follows:

2022  2021
RO RO

Less than 10% 117,087,744 101,155,401
More than 10% 15,395,487 15,880,705

132,483,231 117,036,106

9  Other assets and prepayments
2022 2021

RO RO

Prepaid expenses 215,379 241,418
Other receivables 797,153 960,525
Derivative asset 31,748 -

1,044,280 1,201,943

10  Property, equipment and right-of-use assets

Land and 
building

Furniture 
and office 

equipment Vehicles
Right-of-use 

assets
Capital work 

in progress Total
RO RO RO RO RO RO

Cost
1 January 2022 1,262,267 1,399,905 187,874 80,507 33,113 2,963,666
Additions - 28,795 - 4,689 - 33,484
Disposals/write-off -         (6,464) - - (33,113) (39,577)
31 December 2022 1,262,267  1,422,236 187,874 85,196 - 2,957,573
Depreciation
1 January 2022 506,623 1,298,668  161,328 45,285 - 2,011,904
Charge for the year 40,949 37,923 17,818 13,982 -  110,672
Disposals -     (6,464)             - - - (6,464)
31 December 2022 547,572   1,330,127   179,146 59,267 - 2,116,112
Net book value
31 December 2022 714,695 92,109 8,728 25,929               - 841,461

The Company has entered into long term lease agreement for three office premises up to 30th September 2024. Accordingly, 
the management has recognised right-of -use asset and lease liability in accordance with IFRS 16. Lease liabilities have been 
disclosed in note 14 of the financial statements. 

Land and 
building

Furniture 
and office 

equipment Vehicles
Right-of- use 

assets
Capital work 

in progress Total
RO RO   RO RO RO RO

Cost
1 January 2021 1,262,267 1,351,351 188,419   80,507 33,113 2,915,657
Additions - 52,871 4,095 - - 56,966
Disposals - (4,317) (4,640) - - (8,957)
31 December 2021 1,262,267 1,399,905 187,874 80,507 33,113 2,963,666
Depreciation
1 January 2021 465,674 1,262,905 140,100 30,190 - 1,898,869
Charge for the year 40,949 40,080 25,868 15,095 - 121,992
Disposals - (4,317)           (4,640) - - (8,957)
31 December 2021 506,623 1,298,668        161,328 45,285 - 2,011,904
Net book value
31 December 2021 755,644 101,237 26,546 35,222 33,113 951,762

11  Short term loans
2022 2021

RO RO

Short term loans 39,300,000 18,000,000

Short term loans obtained from local commercial banks are denominated in Rial Omani and are secured by a registered mortgage 
over the Company’s assets. Short term loans carry interest rate of 3.25% to 3.60% (2021: 3.20% to 3.25%) per annum.

12  Deposits
No deposits are outstanding from related parties as at 31 December 2022 (2021: nil). Deposits carry interest of 3.90% to 6% 
(2021: 3.25% to 4%). The deposits are due to mature within 36 months from the reporting date.

13  Term loans
Annual 2022 2021

interest rate RO RO

Long term loans – RO 3.80% to 4.85% 45,000,000  30,000,000
Long term loans – US $     3.50% to 3.85% 34,624,500 63,873,250

79,624,500 93,873,250

The Company has entered into long term loan facility agreements with local commercial banks and foreign banks. The lenders 
hold a pari passu charge over all the assets of the Company for the credit facilities granted. In addition, the Company is required 
to comply with certain financial covenants.

The related maturity profile and interest rate risk are given in notes 30 and 31 respectively.
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14  Other liabilities
2022 2021

RO RO

Accounts payable 8,155,168 8,436,797
Accrued expenses and other payables 2,353,142 2,232,296
Directors’ remuneration (note 26) 300,000 300,000
Employees’ end of service benefits (i) 301,648 289,874
Lease liability (ii) 21,287 30,850
Derivative liability - 23,640

11,131,245 11,313,457

(i)	 The movement in the employees’ end of service benefits during the year is as follows:

2022 2021
RO RO

At 1 January 289,874 234,233
Provided during the year (note 4) 78,418 59,113
Paid during the year (66,644) (3,472)

At 31 December 301,648 289,874

During the current year, the Company made partial payment of end of service benefits of certain employees based on the policy 
of the company. 

ii) The movement in the lease liability

2022 2021
RO RO

At 1 January 30,850 45,749
Add : additions during the year 4,689 -
Interest charge for the year 1,768 1,541
Paid during the year (16,020) (16,440)

At 31 December 21,287 30,850

Contingent liabilities 

At 31 December 2022, there were contingent liabilities of RO Nil (2021: RO Nil) in respect of guarantees issued in the normal 
course of business. 

15  Share capital
2022 2021

RO RO

Authorised - shares of RO 0.100 each 35,000,000 35,000,000

Issued and fully paid - shares of RO 0.100 each 30,321,363 29,193,517

The share capital as of 31 December 2022 is as per the regulatory capital requirement.

Shareholders who own 10% or more of the Company’s share capital are as follows:

         2022 2022          2021 2021
%

 of holding
Number of 

shares
%

 of holding
Number of 

shares

Muscat Overseas Company LLC 18.11% 54,912,695 18.11% 52,871,825
Civil Service Employees Pension Fund 13.69% 41,499,144 11.24% 32,820,949

16  Share premium

During the year an amount of RO 1,015,062 was transferred to share premium account upon conversion of the compulsorily 
convertible bonds-2016. During the year, an amount of RO 375,949 has been transferred from share premium account to legal 
reserve account. (note 17).

17  Legal reserve

Article 132 of the Commercial Companies Law 2019 requires that 10% of the profit for the year be transferred to the legal reserve 
until the amounts held in the legal reserve reach one-third of the Company’s capital. Further, as  per Article 126 of the Commercial 
Companies Law 2019, if shares are issued at a premium, the excess after payment of issue expenses shall be added to the legal 
reserve or to a special reserve. Accordingly, during the year, the Company transferred RO 375,949 to legal reserve account from 
share premium account on the conversion of the compulsorily convertible bonds-2016. 

18  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve has been created in accordance with the directives of the Central Bank of Oman via circular FM 11 (“the 
Circular”) dated 31 March 2003 in respect of un-hedged long-term foreign currency loans.  In accordance with the requirements of 
the Circular, 20% exchange reserve shall be created against any foreign currency borrowings which exceeds 40% of the net worth 
as per the previous financial year audited financial statements. 10% of this exchange reserve shall be created at the end of the 
year of the borrowing and 2.5% in each subsequent years. This reserve is not available for distribution.  As the company has repaid 
major portion of the outstanding foreign currency loan during the year an amount of RO 2,980,708 has been transferred back to 
retained earnings (2021: RO 3,616,822 transferred from retained earnings to exchange reserve)
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19  Dividends paid and proposed
Dividend is not accounted for until it has been approved at the Annual General Meeting. At the meeting on 29th January 2023, the Board 
of Directors proposed a dividend of 12.25% of the paid up capital of the Company comprising a cash dividend of 7.25% (RO.0.00725 per 
ordinary share) amounting to RO.2,198,298.861 and 5% compulsorily convertible bonus stock bonds totaling to 15,160,682 bonds of 
RO 0.100 each amounting to RO 1,516,068. (Subject to approval of Shareholders at the AGM). This will be submitted for the formal 
approval at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in March 2023. These bonus stock bonds will carry an annual 
coupon rate of 4%, payable annually. The interest will be calculated on the basis of 365 days per year on the nominal value of the bonus 
stock bond. These bonus stock bonds will be unsecured and listed on the Muscat Securities Exchnage (MSX).

The bonus stock bonds will be compulsorily converted into specific number of equity shares at the end of 84 months from the 
date of listing at 80% of the weighted average closing price of the Company’s equity traded on the MSX over the preceding three 
months prior to the record date of such conversion, subject to a minimum 85% of the book value as per the audited accounts of 
the Company for the immediately preceding financial year of the Company.

A cash dividend of 7% amounting to RO.2,043,546 and 5%  non-convertible unsecured bonus stock bonds redeemable after 60 
months amounting to RO 1,459,676 were approved at the Annual General Meeting held in March 2022 and subsequently cash 
dividend was paid and non convertible bonus stock bonds were issued to the shareholders.

20  Compulsorily convertible bonds

2022 2021
RO RO

Compulsorily convertible bonus bonds – 2016 (i) - 2,142,908
Compulsorily convertible bonus bonds – 2017 (ii) 830,372 830,372
Compulsorily convertible bonus bonds – 2018 (iii) 1,428,122 1,428,122
Compulsorily convertible bonus bonds – 2019 (iv) 1,167,741 1,167,741

3,426,235 5,569,143

In March 2017, the shareholders at the AGM approved 8% compulsorily convertible unsecured bonus stock bonds totaling to 
21,429,083 bonds of RO 0.100 each amounting to RO 2,142,908. These bonus stock bonds will carry an annual coupon rate 
of 4%, payable semi-annually. During the year, these bonus stock bonds have been converted into equity shares in a manner 
explained in note (v). Accordingly, to determine the number of shares for each bondholder and the aggregate increase in the 
paid-up capital, the Company arrived at the applicable price of RO 0.190 being 85% of the Book Value based on the audited 
financial statements as of 31 December 2021.

In March 2018, the shareholders at the AGM approved 3% compulsorily convertible unsecured bonus stock bonds totaling to 
8,303,720 bonds of RO 0.100 each amounting to RO 830,372. These bonus stock bonds will carry an annual coupon rate of 4%, 
payable semi-annually. The bonus stock bonds will be compulsorily converted into specific number of equity shares at the end 
of 60 months in a manner explained in note (v).

In March 2019, the shareholders at the AGM approved 5% compulsorily convertible unsecured bonus          stock bonds totalling 
to 14,281,224 bonds of RO 0.100 each amounting to RO 1,428,122. These bonus stock bonds will carry an annual coupon rate 
of 4%, payable annually. The bonus stock bonds will be compulsorily converted into specific number of equity shares at the end 
of 60 months in a manner explained in note (v).
		
In March 2020, the shareholders at the AGM approved 4% compulsorily convertible unsecured bonus stock bonds totalling to 
11,677,407 bonds of RO 0.100 each amounting to RO 1,167,741. These bonus stock bonds will carry an annual coupon rate of 
4%, payable annually. The bonus stock bonds will be compulsorily converted into specific number of equity shares at the end of 
84 months in a manner explained in note (v).

The interest is calculated on the basis of 365 days per year on the nominal value of the bond. These bonds are unsecured and 
listed on the MSX. The bonds will be converted into specific number of shares from the date of listing at 80% of the weighted 
average closing price of the Company’s traded equity shares on the MSX over the preceding three months prior to the record 
date of such conversion, subject to a minimum 85% of the book value as per the audited accounts of the Company for the 
immediately preceding financial year of the Company.

As approved by the regulatory authority, the unsecured fully compulsorily convertible bonds amounting to RO 3,426,235 (2021: 
RO 5,569,143) are treated as part of the Company’s net worth for computing all regulatory limits. Accordingly, the net worth of 
the Company as of 31 December 2022 for all regulatory purposes is RO 69,905,002 (2021: RO 70,658,414).

21  Non-convertible bonds
In March 2022, the shareholders at the AGM approved 5% compulsorily non-convertible unsecured bonus stock bonds 
redeemable after 60 months totaling to 14,596,759 bonds of RO 0.100 each amounting to RO 1,459,676. These bonus stock 
bonds will carry an annual coupon rate of 4% payable annually.

22  Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the year as follows: 

2022 2021
RO RO

Profit for the year (RO) 2,749,810 2,563,589
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (Nos) 299,454,148 291,935,171
Basic earnings per share (RO) 0.009 0.009
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23    Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company (after 
adjusting interest on the convertible bonds, net of tax) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive 
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

2022 2021
RO RO

Profit after tax 2,749,810 2,563,589
Add: Interest on bonds (net) 178,772 189,351
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted) (RO) 2,928,582 2,752,940
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) (Nos) 321,289,262 321,989,909

Diluted earnings per share (RO) 0.009 0.009

24  Special reserve for non-performing assets

This special reserve is created specifically for non-performing assets to meet out any contingencies. This reserve is non 
distributable and transfers out of this reserve require approval of Board of Directors. 

25  Segment information

The Company operates in the finance industry and its operations are confined to the Sultanate of Oman. Detail regarding the 
Company’s corporate and retail loans are included in note 8. None of the Company’s single customer contributed more than 
10% of its instalment finance income.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker considers the business of the Company as one operating segment and monitors only 
revenue and provision for expected credit loss for the corporate and retail segment.

26  Related party transactions

The Company has entered into transactions in the ordinary course of business with major shareholders and other related 
parties in which certain directors have a significant influence. Pricing policies and the terms of the transactions are approved 
by the Company’s board of directors and are considered by mutually agreed terms and are consistent with the standard terms 
applied by the Company.

Transactions with related parties or holders of 10% or more of the Company’s shares or their family members, included in the 
statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

2022 2021
RO RO

Interest income on finance lease, working capital 
facilities and other advances (major shareholder)              129,927 145,015

Directors’ sitting fees and remuneration              384,800 382,800

Employee’s related cost of senior management     1,721,438 1,622,559

Details of Directors’ remuneration and sitting fee are disclosed in notes 4 and 14.

Outstanding balances at the year-end arise in the normal course of business. Amounts due from related parties are not impaired 
and are estimated to be collectible based on the past experience

The following balances were outstanding of related parties or holders of 10% or more of the Company’s  shares. 

Receivables Payables Receivables Payables
RO RO RO RO

Members of the Board of Directors 1,740,203 300,000 1,954,166 300,000

  1,740,203    300,000  1,954,166       300,000

27 Net asset per share
Net assets per share is calculated by dividing the net assets at the end of the year by the number of shares outstanding at the 
year end as follows :

2022 2021
RO RO

Net asset value 66,478,767 65,089,271

Number of ordinary shares at the year end 303,213,636 291,935,171

Net assets per share-RO 0.219 0.223
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28  Fair value of financial instruments
It is the Company’s intention to hold investment in finance lease, working capital facilities and other advances till maturity. 
As a result, the fair value of performing finance receivables is arrived at by using the discounted cash flow method based on 
a discount rate equal to the prevailing market rates of interest for loans having similar terms and conditions. The Company’s 
short term loans are at variable rates of interests and long term loans are repriced on annual basis. The Company considers 
that the fair value of financial instruments at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are not significantly different to their carrying value 
at each of those dates.

All financial assets and liabilities have been accounted at amortised cost, except for derivative assets which designated at fair 
value through profit or loss.

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities approximates their carrying value as stated in the statement of financial 
position.

Fair value hierarchy
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments by valuation 
technique:

Level 1:	 quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2:	 other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either 
directly or indirectly; and
Level 3:	 techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable 
market data.

During the prior year, the company entered into an interest rate swap derivative instrument with a local commercial bank, which 
is subsequently measured at fair value using Level 2 techniques. (note 9)
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Company had no other financial instruments, which were recorded at fair values.

29   Maturity profile of the assets and liabilities
The table below analyses the Company’s assets, liabilities and equity into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The maturity profile as of 31 December 2022 was as follows: 

Up to
1 month

1 to 3
Months

3 to 6
months

6 months 
to 1 year

1 to 3
Years

Over
3 years

Non-fixed 
maturity Total

RO RO RO RO RO RO RO RO

Assets

Cash and bank balances 15,865,441 - - - 69,527,400 -                  - 85,392,841

Deposits with CBO - - - - - - 250,000 250,000

Net investment in finance 
lease, working capital 
finance and other advances 23,336,455 8,879,383 11,452,821 15,262,875 36,740,812 23,388,508                 - 119,060,854
Other assets and 
prepayments 552,849 405,410 53,365 32,656 - - - 1,044,280

Property, equipment and 
right-of-use assets             -            -               - -                  - - 841,461 841,461

Total assets 39,754,745 9,284,793 11,506,186 15,295,531 106,268,212 23,388,508 1,091,461 206,589,436

Liabilities and equity

Short term loans 36,700,000 2,100,000 500,000 - - - - 39,300,000

Deposits - - 1,000,000 - 3,500,000 - - 4,500,000

Term loans - 15,000,000 2,500,000 12,124,500 50,000,000 - - 79,624,500

Compulsorily convertible 
bonds - - - - - - 3,426,235 3,426,235

Non-convertible 
redeemable bonds - - - - - 1,459,676 - 1,459,676

Other liabilities 3,494,029 3,450,392 661,258 277,875 2,988,131 259,560 - 11,131,245

Income tax payable - - - - - - 669,013 669,013

Equity - - - - - - 66,478,767 66,478,767

Total liabilities and equity 40,194,029 20,550,392 4,661,258 12,402,375 56,488,131 1,719,236 70,574,015 206,589,436

Gap in maturity (439,284) (11,265,599) 6,844,928 2,893,156 49,780,081 21,669,272 (69,482,554)

Cumulative gap in maturity (439,284) (11,704,883) (4,859,955) (1,966,799) 47,813,282 69,482,554
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29 Maturity profile of the assets and liabilities (continued)
The table below analyses the Company’s assets, liabilities and equity into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The maturity profile as of 31 December 2021 was as follows: 

            Up to
1 month

             1 to 3
months

  
         3 to 6

months

  
6 months to   

1  year

       
   1 to 3

years

    
    Over
3 years

    
Non-fixed      

maturity
         

Total

RO RO RO RO RO RO RO RO

Assets

Cash and bank balances 4,957,984 - - 5,000,000 79,627,400 - - 89,585,385

Deposits with CBO - - - - - - 250,000 250,000

Net investment in finance 
lease, working capital 
finance and other advances 21,800,018 19,945,698 10,633,062 16,623,813 23,758,678 12,796,683

                    
- 105,557,952

Other assets and 
prepayments 236,540 616,322 314,244 34,837 - -                 - 1,201,943

Property, equipment and 
right-of-use assets - - - - - - 951,762 951,762

Total assets 26,994,542 20,562,020 10,947,306 21,658,650 103,386,078 12,796,683 1,201,762 197,547,042

Liabilities and equity

Short term loans 14,000,000 4,000,000 - - - - - 18,000,000

Deposits - - 2,000,000 - 1,000,000 - - 3,000,000

Term loans - 7,218,281 9,624,500 22,030,469 55,000,000 - - 93,873,250

Compulsorily convertible 
bonds - - - - - - 5,569,143 5,569,143

Other liabilities 3,133,601 3,309,433 871,430 673,394 3,063,697 261,902 - 11,313,457

Income tax payable - - - - - - 701,921 701,921

Equity - - - - - - 65,089,271 65,089,271

Total liabilities and equity 17,133,601 14,527,714 12,495,930 22,703,863 59,063,697 261,902 71,360,335 197,547,042

Gap in maturity 9,860,941 6,034,307 (1,548,624) (1,045,213) 44,322,381 12,534,781 (70,158,573)

Cumulative gap in 
maturity 9,860,941 15,895,248 14,346,624 13,301,411 57,623,792 70,158,573

30   Interest rate risk 
The interest rate charged and paid by the Company are similar to the prevailing market interest rates. The Company’s interest 
rate sensitivity position, based on the contractual re-pricing at 31 December 2022 is set out below:

Floating
rate or within 
three months 

3 to 6
months

6 months to
one year

1 to 3 
years

Over
3 years

Non interest 
sensitive Total

RO RO RO RO RO RO RO

Assets

 Cash and bank balances including
deposit with central bank 15,845,784 - - 69,527,400 250,000 19,657 85,642,841

 Instalment finance receivable, working
capital finance
and other advances 49,879,667 6,017,567 12,548,501 28,561,681 22,053,438 - 119,060,854

Other assets and prepayments - - - - - 1,044,280 1,044,280

 Property, equipment and right-of-use
assets 841,461 841,461

Total assets 65,725,451 6,017,567 12,548,501 98,089,081 22,303,438 1,905,398 206,589,436

Liabilities and equity

Short term loans 38,800,000 500,000 - - - - 39,300,000

Deposits - 1,000,000 - 3,500,000 - - 4,500,000

Term loans 15,000,000 2,500,000 12,124,500 50,000,000 - - 79,624,500

 Compulsorily convertible bonds - 830,372 - 1,428,122 1,167,741 - 3,426,235

Non-convertible redeemable bonds - - - - 1,459,676 - 1,459,676

Other liabilities 11,131,245 11,131,245

Income tax payable 669,013 669,013

Equity 66,478,767 66,478,767

Total liabilities and equity 53,800,000 4,830,372 12,124,500 54,928,122 2,627,417 78,279,025 206,589,436

Net Balance Sheet Items 11,925,451 1,187,195 424,001 43,160,959 19,676,021 )76,373,627(

Off-Balance Sheet Items 10,000,000 - - )10,000,000( - -

Interest rate sensitivity gap 21,925,451 1,187,195 424,001 33,160,959 19,676,021 76,373,627

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap 21,925,451 23,112,646 22,536,647 56,697,606 76,373,627

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2022



AL
 O

M
AN

IY
A 

FI
N

AN
CI

AL
 S

ER
VI

CE
S 

(S
AO

G)

84 85

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

30   Interest rate risk (continued)

The Company’s interest sensitivity position based on contractual repricing arrangements at 31 December 2021 is as follows:
Floating

rate or within 
three months 

3 to 6
months

6 months to
one year

1 to 3 
years

Over
3 years

Non interest 
sensitive Total

RO RO RO RO RO RO RO

Assets

Cash and bank balances including deposit 
with central bank 4,943,086 -    5,000,000 79,627,400 250,000 14,899 89,835,385

Instalment finance receivable, working 
capital finance and other advances 55,394,983 6,288,648 11,403,460 20,537,866 11,932,995 - 105,557,952

Other assets and prepayments - - - - - 1,201,943 1,201,943

Property, equipment and right-of-use assets - - - - - 951,762 951,762

Total assets 60,338,069 6,288,648 16,403,460 100,165,266 12,182,995     2,168,604 197,547,042

Liabilities and equity

Short term loans 18,000,000 - - - - - 18,000,000

Deposits 2,000,000 - 1,000,000 - - 3,000,000

Term loans 17,218,281 9,624,500 22,030,469 45,000,000 - - 93,873,250

Compulsorily convertible bonds     2,142,908 - - 2,258,494 1,167,741 - 5,569,143

Other liabilities - - - - - 11,313,457 11,313,457

Income tax payable - - - - - 701,921 701,921

Equity - - - - - 65,089,271 65,089,271

Total liabilities and equity 37,361,189 11,624,500 22,030,469 48,258,494 1,167,741 77,104,649 197,547,042

Net Balance Sheet Items 22,976,880 (5,335,852)      (5,672,009)     51,906,772    11,015,254   (74,936,045)

Off-Balance Sheet Items 10,000,000 - - (10,000,000) - -

Interest rate sensitivity gap 32,976,880 (5,335,852) (5,627,009) 41,906,772 11,015,254   (74,936,045)

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap 32,976,880 27,641,028 22,014,019 63,920,791 74,936,045

31  Financial risk management
The primary objective of the risk management system is to safeguard the Company’s capital, its financial resources and from 
various risks. The Company has exposure to the following risk from its use of financial instruments:
•	 Credit risk
•	 Liquidity risk 
•	 Market risk

The Board of Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management 
framework. The Board has established the policies and procedures and internal checks and balances to keep the risk at an 
acceptable level.

 (a)  Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to 
incur a financial loss. The Company manages credit risk by setting limits for individual borrowers, monitoring credit exposures, 
limiting transactions with specific counter parties and assessing continually the creditworthiness of counter parties. In addition, 
the Company obtains security where appropriate, enters into collateral arrangements with counter parties, and limits the 
duration of the exposures.

Exposure to credit before collateral held or other credit enhancements
The credit exposure of the Company at 31 December is as follows:

2022 2021
RO RO

Bank balances 745,784 4,943,086
Deposit with CBO and commercial banks – net 84,877,400 84,877,400
Net investment in finance lease, working capital facilities 
and other advances – net 119,060,854 105,557,952

Credit risk exposure relating to off balance sheet items
Approved lease commitment at 31 December 239,987 37,798
Total exposure 204,624,025 195,416,236
Classification of net investment in finance lease, working capital facilities and other 
advances – net as per CBO norms
Past due 1 - 89 days but not impaired 2,519,610 2,682,759
Impaired
Past due 90 – 179 days 770,264 1,132,776
Past due 180 –269 days 9,337 3,179,578
Past due 270 –364 days - -
Past due  > 364 days 3,186,293 94,906

3,965,894 4,407,260
Neither past due nor impaired 125,997,727 109,946,087
Total 132,483,231 117,036,106
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31  Financial risk management (continued)

Classification of investment in finance lease, working capital facilities and other 
advances – net as CBO norms (continued)

2022
RO

2021
RO

Less:- provision for expected credit loss, including reserved interest: (13,422,377) (11,478,154)

Net investment in finance lease, working capital facilities and other advances 119,060,854 105,557,952

Rescheduled loans as of 31 December 2022 amounted to RO 3,277,717 (2021: RO 3,154,724). The Gross NPL is 2.99% and the 
NPL net of provision for expected credit loss and special reserve for non-performing assets is in negative and it is -3.66% of the 
present value of finance receivables.

Classification of investment in finance lease, working capital facilities and other 
advances as per IFRS 9 including guarantees 2022 2021

RO RO

Stage -1 114,379,657 99,729,095

Stage -2. 14,137,680 12,899,751

Stage -3 3,965,894 4,407,260

132,483,231 117,036,106

Less:- provision for expected credit loss, including reserved interest: (13,422,377) (11,478,154)

Net investment in finance lease, working capital facilities and other 
advances as per IFRS 9 including guarantees  109,060,854   105,557,952                         

Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same 
geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be 
similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of 
the Company’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographic location. There is no significant 
industry concentration. Concentration of risk is managed by client/counterparty and by industry sector exposures. There is no 
significant credit exposure relating to instalment finance receivable to any single counterparty as at 31 December 2022 and 
2021. An industry sector analysis of the Company’s instalment finance receivable – net before taking into account collateral 
held is as follows:

Maximum 
exposure

Maximum 
exposure

2022 2021 

Personal loans	 26,735,930 28,645,946
Business loans   - Services and other sectors 56,940,241 43,191,147
    - Construction 1,716,100 1,555,970
    - Trading 32,580,739 28,123,702
    - Manufacturing 14,510,221 15,519,341

132,483,231 117,036,106

Delinquency risk

Delinquency risk refers to investment in finance lease and other credit exposures that have become non-performing during the 
period of the credit term. An instalment finance receivables is considered impaired when, in the management’s opinion, it can 
no longer be reasonably assured that it will be able to collect the full amount of principal and interest when due.

The Company treats an instalment finance receivables as non-performing as per the established norms of the Central Bank of 
Oman and creates specific ECL allowances individually based on the regulatory guidelines. The Company as per International 
Financial Reporting Standard establishes specific allowances for all impaired instalment finance receivables when the estimated 
value of the instalment finance receivables is less than its recorded value, based on discounting of expected future cash flows. 
In addition collective provision is also created. The Company writes off an instalment finance receivables, when it determines 
that the instalment finance receivables is uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as the 
occurrence of significant changes in the customer’s financial position such that the borrower can no longer pay the obligation, 
or proceeds from the sale of the asset or collateral security will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. Upon approval 
from the Board of Directors, the amount is written off.

Collateral securities

The Company holds collateral securities against the instalment finance debtor in the form of mortgage interests over property. 
Estimate of fair value are based on the value of the collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, except when an instalment 
finance receivable is individually assessed as impaired. The fair value of the collateral considered is restricted to a maximum 
amount of secured instalment finance receivable. 

Settlement risk

The settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a Company to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or 
other assets as contractually agreed. To avoid settlement risks, the Company ensures that all control systems are in place to 
keep the errors to a minimum.
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Impairment assessment 

Definition of default
IFRS 9 does not define the term default.  As per the CBO guidelines default happens when the financial asset is 90 days past 
due. For IFRS 9 purposes the loan is in default when a financial asset is 90 days past due. There is a rebuttable presumption 
that the credit risk of the loan has increased significantly when the contractual payments are more than 30 days due. Cross 
default has been applied in the IFRS 9 model. If a customer has multiple loans, default in one loan would automatically classify 
all the other loans of the customer in the same higher category.

Incorporation of forward-looking information
The Company incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has 
increased significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. Based on consideration of a variety of external 
actual and forecast information, the Company formulates a fundamental view of the future direction of relevant economic 
variables as well as a reasonable range of possible scenarios.

The Company’s internal rating and PD estimation process
The company has internal risk rating modules which it applies to all corporate customers whose comprehensive credit limit facility 
is in excess of RO 250,000/-.  The internal risk ratings model used by the company is quite comprehensive and gives appropriate 
weightage to qualitative, quantitative and security aspects. The model has been in use for almost 6 years and has proved effective 
so far. Due to the non availability of data for bench marking and due to diverse nature of the industry and client, the internal ratings 
are not mapped to the external ratings. 

For other corporate clients, where detailed risk rating model is not deployed, risk grading has been done based on the same 
parameters subject to availability of data and on judgement. Accordingly risk classification and appropriate risk scores are assigned.  
The internal risk ratings serves as a parameter for the development of base probability of default for the corporate segment 
where the customers have comprehensive credit limits.

Generating the term structure of Probability of Default (PD)
The TTC probability of default is derived based on the loan amount to default loans and also on the count of bad loans to the total 
loans. Based on the survival rate, the marginal PD is calculated for the months and weighted average of marginal PD is computed 
and the life time PD (LTPD) is derived. Then all the monthly weighted average PD and LTPD are averaged for the individual years 
and averaged collectively for the data period for each - group of retail portfolio. 

The loans are categorized in stages as per the staging criteria and based on the balance tenure the respective point in time PD is 
applied with respect to the particular  grouping  the customer falls in. Further the PD may be escalated across different stages to 
adjust the probability of default for forward looking macro-economic conditions in the country. 

The base PD is derived on the risk score of Internal credit rating model for corporate  customers with exposure of RO 250,000 
and above and the PD is adjusted to current qualitative and quantitative parameters. available and the PD is further escalated and 
adjusted to forward looking PD by utilizing macroeconomic variables. 

The base PD is derived on the risk score of an abridged internal credit rating model for corporate  customers with exposure of RO 
100,000 and above up to RO 250,000 wand the PD is adjusted to current qualitative and quantitative parameters available and 
the PD is further escalated and adjusted to forward looking PD by utilizing macroeconomic variables. 

Economic variable assumptions

Exposure at default
This is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes in the exposure after the 
reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, and expected draw downs on committed facilities. This is the 
principal loan amounts outstanding at any point in time.

Loss given default
Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due 
and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.   

Significant Increase in Credit Risk
i.	 Under IFRS 9, when determining whether the credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial instrument has increased significantly 

since initial recognition, the Company considers  reasonable and  supportable information that is relevant and available without 
undue cost or effort, including both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on the Company’s historical 
experience and forward-looking information in addition to qualitative criteria as prescribed by Central Bank of Oman vide 
circular BM1149 dated 13th April 2017

ii.	 There is a rebuttable presumption that there is a significant increase in credit risk when the contractual payments are more 
than 30 days due for all loans. The significant increase in risk is applied at the obligor level.

Impact of Coronavirus (COVID-19)
The adverse effects of the outbreak of COVID-19 became apparent from early 2020, for which Governments and regulatory 
authorities across the globe, including the Central Bank of Oman (CBO), implemented several measures not only to contain the 
impact of the spread of the virus but also to protect the stability of their country’s economies. 

In Oman, the most significant finance measures included:
•	 Deferral of instalments for the effected customers particularly the corporates and SMEs
•	 Deferment of instalments for effected Omani nationals employed in private sector
•	 Lowering of regulatory capital ratios. 

With the passing of COVID-19, in 2022 the CBO removed many of the protective relief measure altogether and borrowers and 
banks were encouraged to restructure loans where repayments could not simply recommence on pre-COVID-19 terms.
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As a result, the more lenient assessments of Significant Increase in Credit risk (SICR) and substantial management overlays to the 
ECL model allowances in 2021 have ceased and, in 2022, more reliance is being placed on the core ECL models with management 
overlays being applied selectively on a borrower-by-borrower basis.  Notably, with the cessation of deferral payment holidays, 
days past due has again become a meaningful SICR to decide whether to compute 12 months or lifetime ECL.

Although COVID-19 is no longer playing a major part in the fortunes of borrowers, many borrowers are still trying to adjust their 
business models and their funding strategies to emerge from the stress they encountered and to cope with different patterns of 
customer demand in the post-COVID-19 global and local economies.

The Company closely monitors the ongoing impacts on the borrowers within its portfolios and tries to implement achievable loan 
restructures, as the Company is fully committed to help its viable customers emerge intact from the pandemic.

Where possible, without incurring undue cost and effort, the Company’s models have been constructed and calibrated using 
historical trends and correlations as well as forward looking economic scenarios and overlayed by the application of reasonable 
management judgement in any segments where the Company does not have adequate default history, or for borrowers with 
known financial weaknesses.

Based on regulatory and IASB’s guidance, as a measure of prudence, wherever necessary, the Company continues to apply post 
model adjustments and management judgment overlays, while computing its ECL with the intention to collectively cover the 
probable future economic conditions.  The Company continues to reassess and appropriately adjust such management overlays 
on a regular basis as new facts come to light.  

Post-model adjustments and management overlays of RO 6.7 million (2021: RO 5.5 million) have been made in estimating the 
reported ECL as at 31 December 2022.

The following table provides a comparison of the company’s ECL allowances on non-impaired financial assets (Stages 1 and 2) 
based on the probability weightings of three scenarios, with the ECL that would be reported if each scenario was weighted at 
100%.

2022
RO

2021
RO

Sensitivity of impairment estimates
ECL                        ECL

in RO             in RO

ECL on non-impaired loans 10,040,776                7,887,870

Simulations

Upside case - 100% weighted 9,207,9777            7,370,841

Base case - 100% weighted 10,041,795           7,888,745

Downside scenario - 100% weighted 10,870,518           8,402,272

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financing receivables and the related ECL of the borrowers 
benefiting from payment deferrals and/or loan restructures:  The gross exposure amount (including accrued interest and off-
balance sheet exposures) represents the Company’s maximum credit exposure to such affected borrowers:

Investment in finance lease, working capital facilities and other advances

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3               Total

Gross exposure 10,803,974 7,419,434 3,331,946  21,555,354

ECL (5,467,737)  (2,825,642)  (2,524,334)      (10,817,713)

Net carrying amount 5,336,237 4,593,792 807,612 10,737,641

2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3               Total

Gross exposure 24,467,452 6,994,671 3,300,835  34,762,958
ECL (2,242,319) (3,916,610)    (2,487,064)      (8,645,993)

Net carrying amount 22,225,133 3,078,061 813,771 26,116,965

Modification losses
In case of corporate borrowers who first opted for deferment options, followed subsequently by loan restructures, the unpaid 
principal and accrued interest during the deferred or grace period under the restructured terms, typically becomes repayable at the 
end of the loan to accommodate the cashflow position of the borrowers and hence modification losses do not arise.  Conversely, 
in line with CBO instructions for deferring individual Omani borrowers who lost their jobs or whose salaries were reduced, the 
Company also deferred the installments to the end of the tenor but without accruing any additional interest, in which case a 
modification loss does arise.  The modification losses for those cases have been included within the ECL management overlay.
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(b)     Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. The business of lending has 
an inherent risk of liquidity arising from the mismatch of tenure of funds borrowed vis-à-vis lent, in addition to unforeseen 
adverse recovery patterns.

The Company is constantly on the vigil and judiciously manages the funds with a mix of borrowing instruments.  Liabilities are 
contracted and structured based on the behavioral pattern of the assets in terms of maturity and re-pricing structure.  To limit 
the liquidity risk, the management through its carefully drawn up strategies, has diversified sources of funds, avoids undue 
concentration on a single lender and manages its collection in a systematic manner.

During the year, the Company completed medium to long term funding arrangements that have effectively addressed 
and mitigated the apparent mismatch in the maturity of assets and liabilities. Cash flows are monitored continuously and 
appropriate steps are taken to set right mismatches if any, to address the liquidity risk.

The table in note 29 summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2022 based on 
the residual contractual repayment arrangements. 

(c) 	 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices and foreign exchange rates will affect 
the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.

(i)   Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability of the fair values of 
financial instruments. The Company is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches of interest rate, repricing of 
assets and liabilities and unfunded instruments that mature or re-price in a given period.  The Company manages this risk by 
matching the re-pricing of assets and liabilities through risk management strategies.

The table in note 30S summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2022 based 
on the contractual re-pricing arrangements.

Revision in the interest rates by the existing lenders and changes in the interest rates consequent to economic forces is a risk 
faced by any financial institution. Though the Company’s loan portfolio comprises predominantly of fixed interest rates, the 
Company manages its treasury in such a way that the targeted margin is maintained and the risk is kept within acceptable 
levels. 

The following table shows the sensitivity to the Company’s net interest income that would result out of a possible change in 
interest rates

Change in interest rate Change in basis 
points

Sensitivity to net interest/income
(RO ‘000)

2022 2021

Increase in interest rate +100 bps 204 155
Increase in interest rate +150 bps 307 233
Decrease in interest rate - 25 bps (51) (39)

(d)    Operational risk

The Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Company’s 
processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks such 
as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational 
risks arise from all of the Company’s operations and are faced by all business entities. 

The Company has put in place the mechanism to minimise operational risk by way of effective internal control systems, systems 
review and an on-going internal audit programme. The internal auditors of the Company undertake comprehensive audits and 
report directly to the Audit Committee of the Board. The Audit Committee of the Board review the internal audit reports, the 
adequacy of the internal controls and report on the same to the Board.

(e) Capital management

The Company’s primary objective of capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support 
its business and maximise shareholder value.  

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in business conditions.  No 
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021. 

The Company’s lead regulator Central Bank of Oman sets and monitors capital requirement as a whole. The current capital 
requirement as per the Central Bank of Oman is RO 25 million. The Company’s current paid up capital is RO 30,321,363 at the 
current period ending. The Company has already achieved the capital requirement set out by CBO. 

As approved by the regulatory authority and more fully explained in note 20, the unsecured fully compulsorily convertible 
bonds are treated as part of the net worth for computing all regulatory limits.

Accordingly, the net worth as of 31 December 2022 for all regulatory purposes is RO 69,905,002 (2021: RO 70,658,414).

32  Comparative information					   

Certain of the corresponding figures have been reclassified in order to conform with the presentation for the current year. Such 
reclassification does not affect previously reported net profit or equity. 		
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In an independent survey conducted by Apex Press and Publication, 
Al Omaniya Financial Services was overwhelmingly ranked as the 
Most Trusted Brand in NBFC segment for the year 2022. 

Our CEO receiving the Omans Most trusted Brand from H E Eng Said 
bin Hamoud al Ma’awali, Minister of Transport, Communications 
and Information Technology at a function held at Al Bustan Ritz 
Carlton Hotel.
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